
 

 
             CENTRAL PIERCE FIRE & RESCUE       

                     BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA        

CPFR Board of Commissioners Meeting Agenda – May 9, 2022   Page 1 of 2 

 

 
Date: May 9, 2022 

Place: In-Person / Headquarters -17520 – 22nd Ave E., Tacoma, WA   
 Virtual / (Visit www.centralpiercefire.org for instructions to join webinar) 

Time: 5:00 p.m. 

 
Citizens attending virtually that wish to address the Board during Public Comment use 
the “raise hand” feature on the webinar. Statements or comments for the record may 
be submitted to dporter@centralpiercefire.org by 4:00pm meeting day.  

             
 
1. Call to Order 

 

A. Roll Call 
 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

 

3. Approval of Agenda  
 

A. Pg 1 /Agenda 
 
 

4. Pg 3/South Sound 911 Overview  
 
 

5. Public Comment - (for items not specifically listed on the Agenda) 
 

 

6. Consent Agenda (Single Motion)  
 

A. Excused Absences:  
B. Pg 16 /Minutes: Regular Board Meeting of March 28, 2022 
C. Pg 20 /Approval of:  

 
Pg 37 /For Informational Purposes Only - The following electronic payments totaling $4,404,143.79  

are included in Warrants noted above:  

 Accounts Payable EFT numbered 12657 to 12700-$198,431.73 (Included in A/P Warrant 57366) 
 Accounts Payable EFT numbered 12701 to 12707-$875,347.24 (Included in A/P Warrant 57390) 
 Accounts Payable EFT numbered 12708 to 12745-$1,015,192.06 (Included in A/P Warrant 

57398) 
 Employee EFT Contributions/Deductions including all taxes & retirement numbered 54797 to 

55124 - $2,315,172.76 (Included in A/P Warrant 57390) 

Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57363 to 57387 totaling $ 321,255.32 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57388 to 57395 totaling $ 4,659,141.33 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57396 to 57421 totaling $ 1,608,599.40 
Net Payroll Warrants Numbered 107625 to 107630 totaling $ 21,666.79 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57045 to 57045 totaling $ (4,488.80) 

GRAND TOTAL $ 6,606,174.04 

1

http://www.centralpiercefire.org/
mailto:dporter@centralpiercefire.org


 

 
             CENTRAL PIERCE FIRE & RESCUE       

                     BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA        

CPFR Board of Commissioners Meeting Agenda – May 9, 2022   Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 

7. Unfinished Business (Second Reading and Final Action) 
 
 

8. New Business (First Reading) 
 
 

9. Considerations and Requests 
 

A. Pg 69 /Local 726 Chief’s 2022-2024 Collective Bargaining Agreement and 
Appendix “A” 2022 Salary Schedule – HRD Washo 

 
 

B. Pg 97 /Appendix “A” 2022 Salary Schedule for Fire Chief/Deputy Chief – HRD 
Washo 

 
 

C. Pg 99 /Addendum to Appendix “A” 2022 OPEIU Salary Schedule- HRD Washo 
 
 

D. Pg 101 /Darkhorse Analytics Contract for Services – Chief Morrow 
 
 

E. Pg 115 /For Committee and Against Committee Selection – Chief Morrow  
 

 

10. Staff, Local, Firefighter's Association and Fire Chief Reports 
 

A. Pg 116 /Human Resources – HRD Washo 
 
 

B. Pg 118 /Training – AC Juarez 
 
 

C. Pg 119 /Field Operations – AC Kent  
 
 

D. Pg 120 /EMS – AC Bouchard  
 

 

E. Pg 121 /DC Operations – DC Stueve 
 
 

F. Pg 122 /Fire Chief’s Report – Chief Morrow 
 

11. Correspondence 
 

A. Pg 123 /Employee Recognition 
 

 

12. Commissioner Comments 
 

 

13. Adjournment 

2



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:  May 9, 2022 

Item Title:   South Sound 911 Overview 

Attachments:   PowerPoint presentation slides 

Submitted by:  Chief Morrow 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     

 
Representatives from South Sound 911 will be presenting an overview of South Sound 
911.  Copies of the PowerPoint presentation slides are attached.  
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  n/a 

3



5/3/2022

1

SOUTH SOUND 911 OVERVIEW

CENTRAL PIERCE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING

MAY 9, 2022

WHO WE ARE

4



5/3/2022

2

SOUTH SOUND 911

• PUBLIC SAFETY ANSWERING POINT (PSAP)
• Police, fire, and medical
• Serving 38 agencies in Pierce County

• 911 PROGRAM OFFICE

• RECORDS AND TECHNICAL SERVICES

OUR JOURNEY

5



5/3/2022

3

SOUTH SOUND 911 HISTORY

2011
• Proposition 1

2012-2015
• Law Enforcement Support Agency 

(LESA) became South Sound 911
• Founding interlocal agreement 

(ILA) Policy Board & Ops Board
• The first agency joins the 

consolidation

2016-2021
• Remaining 911 call centers join 

South Sound 911
• Strategic study conducted

o Call processing
o Governance
o Radio systems

• Facility completed at 3580 Pacific 
Ave. 

SOUTH SOUND 911 HISTORY

6



5/3/2022

4

NEW FACILITY

Last step to consolidation

vision realized

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

7



5/3/2022

5

Julie Door, Board Chair
City of Puyallup Councilmember

Derek Young, Board Vice‐Chair
Pierce County Councilmember

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Michael Brandstetter
City of Lakewood Councilmember

Joe Bushnell
City of Tacoma Councilmember

Bruce Dammeier
Pierce County Executive

Kathy Hayden
City of Sumner Mayor

Pat Hulcey
City of Fife Councilmember

Matt Holm
CPF&R Commissioner

Conor McCarthy
City of Tacoma Councilmember

Pat McElligott
EPF&R Commissioner

Dan Rankin
WPF&R Commissioner

8



5/3/2022

6

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

• Bylaws

• Elections

• Committees

• Public Development Authority

WHAT WE DO
Operations &

Support Services

9



5/3/2022

7

OPERATIONS

• 911 and non-emergency call processing
• Text-to-911

• Primary radio dispatch – police, fire, and 
medical

• Protocols set by partner agencies

• Secondary radio – data dispatch

• Communication Center telephone reports

SOUTH SOUND 911 – CALL TAKING & DISPATCH

10



5/3/2022

8

• Records Department
• Public counter
• Law enforcement records

• Technical Services

SUPPORT SERVICES

FINANCE
&

HUMAN RESOURCES

11



5/3/2022

9

BUDGET & FINANCE

Allocation
43%

Sales Tax
42%

911 Excise Tax
14%

Public Counter/Other
1%

2022 Revenues by Source

• 57% ‐ Ops 
• 25% ‐ Radio Debt
• 18% ‐ Facility Debt

BUDGET & FINANCE

Administration
11%

Communications
50%

Support Services
17%

Operating 
Contingency

1%

Debt Service
18%

Radio Systems
3%

2022 Expenditures by Division

12



5/3/2022

10

PERSONNEL & RECRUITMENT

Current Employee Count 219
Budgeted 245

20

COMMUNITY RELATIONS

• Social Media
 @SouthSound911 (FB & Twitter)
 @OfficialSouthSound911 (IG)

• Media Relations

• Website

• 911 Education

• Volunteer Program

13



5/3/2022

11

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Community Relations Team
Educational speaking engagements, 

tours, event reps, Safe Streets 
partner

South Sound 911 Cares
Employee‐driven 
charitable giving

OUR FUTURE

14



5/3/2022

12

THE FUTURE OF SOUTH SOUND 911

• RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM (RMS) REPLACEMENT

• NEXT GENERATION (NG) 911

• REGIONAL COLLABORATION FOR 
OUTAGES

• UNIVERSAL CALL TAKING

• REMODEL OF 35TH STREET 
BACKUP FACILITY

• 988 AND CRISIS CALLS

• VOLUNTEER PROGRAM • STRATEGIC RETREAT
JUNE 8, 2022

QUESTIONS?

15



DRAFT – Not Official Until Approved 

Board of Commissioners 
Page 1 of 4                                                                                                   April 25, 2022  Board Meeting Minutes 

CENTRAL PIERCE FIRE & RESCUE 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

April 25, 2022 
 
Chair Holm called the Regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners for Central 
Pierce Fire & Rescue to order at 5:11 p.m. District Headquarters – 17520 22nd Ave E., 
Tacoma. The start time was delayed to resolve technical issues with the remote 
attendance option for the public. Present were Chair Holm, Commissioners Stringfellow, 
Coleman, and Mitchell, Ex-Officio Door, Chief Morrow, Deputy Chiefs Karns and 
Stueve, FD Robacker, HRD Washo, Assistant Chief Overby, Executive Assistant Porter, 
recorder. Commissioner Willis had an excused absence.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Chair Holm led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Commissioner Coleman moved and Commissioner Mitchell seconded to approve the 
agenda. MOTION CARRIED.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT (FOR ITEMS NOT SPECIFICALLY ON THE AGENDA) 
No public comment.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA (SINGLE MOTION)  

A. Excused Absences:  
B. Minutes: Regular Board Meeting of April 11, 2022    
C. Approval of: 

 
Commissioner Stringfellow moved and Commissioner Coleman seconded to approve 
the Consent Agenda with warrants totaling $1,820,051.22. MOTION CARRIED.  
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS (SECOND READING AND FINAL ACTION) 

A. Reauthorization of Funding Sources to Voters August 2, 2022 
 
Central Pierce relies on the EMS Levy and Fire Benefit Charge to contribute nearly 52% 
of our revenue for 2022. Renewal would ensure current service levels can be 
maintained; rejection means fire and emergency medical service levels would be 
impacted given the loss of more than half of our funding. Commissioner Holm moved 
and Commissioner Stringfellow seconded to approve Resolutions No. 22-01 and 22-02, 
and instruct Pierce County to submit the EMS Levy and Fire Benefit Charge 
reauthorizations to the voters on August 2, 2022. MOTION CARRIED.  
 

Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57294 to 57294 totaling $ 9,000.00 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57295 to 57334 totaling $ 757,700.30 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57335 to 57335 totaling $ 896,797.73 
Accounts Payable Warrants Numbered 57336 to 57362  totaling $ 156,553.19 

GRAND TOTAL $ 1,820,051.22 

16



DRAFT – Not Official Until Approved 

Board of Commissioners 
Page 2 of 4                                                                                                   April 25, 2022  Board Meeting Minutes 

 
NEW BUSINESS (FIRST READING – FOR DISCUSSION AND REVIEW ONLY) 
No new business. 
 
CONSIDERATIONS AND REQUESTS 

A. 2023 Fire Benefit Charge Data Management 
 
Interface Systems has been the data provider for the fire benefit charge for many years. 
The contract is at the same amount as last year. Commissioner Mitchell moved and 
Commissioner Coleman seconded to approve the Agreement for Consulting Services 
with Interface Systems LLC for $16,500 to provide 2023 fire benefit charge data 
management. MOTION CARRIED.  

 
B. Appendix A (2022 salary schedule) for Local 726 Firefighter’s Bargaining Unit 

 
The salary schedule is based upon the recently approved contract. The Board was 
presented with a revised schedule updating holiday hours per year. Commissioner 
Stringfellow moved and Commissioner Coleman seconded to approve the Revised 
2022 Salary Schedule for Local 726 – Firefighter’s Bargaining Unit. MOTION CARRIED.  

 
C. Creation of Crisis Intervention Coordinator Pay Range  

 
This salary schedule was created for the new position of Crisis Intervention Coordinator. 
The intent is to cost-share this position in the future with a neighboring organization. 
Commissioner Mitchell moved and Commissioner Coleman seconded to approve the 
Crisis Intervention Coordinator Pay Range effective April 18, 2022. MOTION CARRIED.  

 
D. Solicitation of Ballot Measure For and Against Committee Members  

 
Soliciting members for both committees is part of the ballot measure process. 
Commissioner Holm moved and Commissioner Stringfellow seconded to call for 
solicitation of voters to join the For or Against Committees for the upcoming EMS Levy 
and Fire Benefit Charge ballot measure reauthorizations. MOTION CARRIED.  

 
E. GEMT Consultant Review/Audit  

 
This contract for professional services will cover a review of GEMT procedures and cost 
reporting. The final report will be shared with the Board. Commissioner Coleman moved 
and Commissioner Mitchell seconded to approve Finance Director Robacker to sign the 
Moss Adams consulting contract to review GEMT procedures and cost reporting, and 
transfer funds from the Commissioner Contingency in the amount of $8,500 to 201 
Finance. MOTION CARRIED.  
 
STAFF, LOCAL, FIREFIGHTERS’ ASSOCIATION AND FIRE CHIEF REPORTS (For 
Information Only) 
The following divisions provided a written report in the packet: 

17



DRAFT – Not Official Until Approved 

Board of Commissioners 
Page 3 of 4                                                                                                   April 25, 2022  Board Meeting Minutes 

 
A. Finance/FD Robacker – Overtime continues to be over budget. 

 
B. IT/ITD Scott-Ralston. 

 
C. Logistics/AC Stueve. 

 
D. Prevention & Education/AC Overby – Public Educator Thompson and CGRO 

Shaw did an amazing job with public interactions at the Spring Fair.  
 

E. Health & Safety/AC McKenzie. 
 

F. DC Administration/DC Karns – Provided an update on Station 72 dirt issue.  
 

G. Fire Chief/Chief Morrow – Puyallup Armory/Station 73 purchase is complete. He 
encouraged the Board to review the annual report. Local 726 Non-uniformed 
contract negotiations are beginning. Arson charges were dismissed on the Valley 
Plaza fire from a few years ago; Staff is looking to get more information.  

 
CORRESPONDENCE 

A. City of Dupont Fire Department 
 

B. Employee Recognition. Chair Holm continues to appreciate that employees take 
time from their busy schedules to acknowledge co-workers. 
 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
Ex-Officio Door – Puyallup City Council will be considering a rezone request, which 
doesn’t happen often. 
 
Commissioner Mitchell – Was happy to see all of the letters and made aware of what is 
going on. Good job to Dianne Porter on the annual report.  
 
Commissioner Coleman – Echoed Commissioner Mitchell’s comments. Thanked 
Dianne for a great job on the report and everyone for their hard work. 
 
Commissioner Stringfellow – Canyon Road widening is hectic. Staff confirmed that they 
are working on a contingency plan for training and response, if necessary. Appreciated 
the professional looking annual report.  
 
Commissioner Holm – Commented on the excellent job on the annual report.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, Commissioner Stringfellow moved and Commissioner 
Coleman seconded to adjourn the meeting. MOTION CARRIED. 
 
 

18



DRAFT – Not Official Until Approved 

Board of Commissioners 
Page 4 of 4                                                                                                   April 25, 2022  Board Meeting Minutes 

 
The meeting adjourned at 5:50 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
            
MATTHEW HOLM    TANYA ROBACKER 
CHAIR OF THE BOARD   DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 
 
 
      
DIANNE PORTER 
RECORDER  

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date    May 9, 2022 

Item Title:    Local 726 Chief’s 2022-2024 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

Attachments:    Redlined 2018-2021 Collective Bargaining Agreement, 2022 Appendix A 

Submitted by:   Suzi Washo 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     
 
Motion: To approve the 2022-2024 Local 726 Chief’s Collective Bargaining 

Agreement and associated Appendix “A” Salary Schedules for 2022.   
 
 
Please see the attached redlined version of the Local 726 Chief’s 2022-2024 Collective 
Bargaining Agreement for Board approval, as well as the 2022 Schedule A” (2022 salary 
schedule).   
 
Chief Morrow and I will be at the meeting to answer any questions you may have. 
 
Thank you.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
 
A budget amendment will be created for all non-budgeted items after Board approval. 
 

69



 
 
 
 

IAFF Logo 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Agreement 

 

by and between 

 

Central Pierce Fire & Rescue 

 

and 

 

International Association of Firefighters, 

Local No. 726 

Chief’s Bargaining Unit 

 

January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2024 

70



  Page 2 of 26   

Local 726, Chief’s Bargaining Unit 
Table of Contents 

 
PREAMBLE  ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 1    RECOGNITION ................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE 2    PAYROLL DEDUCTION .................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 3   UNION SECURITY ........................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 4    UNION DISCRIMINATION ............................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 5    UNION BUSINESS......................................................................................................... 55 

ARTICLE 6   PREVAILING RIGHTS ..................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 7    MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ............................................................................................... 66 

ARTICLE 8    WAGES ............................................................................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 9    HOURS ............................................................................................................................ 7 

ARTICLE 10   PERFORMANCE OF DUTY .......................................................................................... 88 

ARTICLE 11    VACATION ..................................................................................................................... 88 

ARTICLE 12   OVERTIME - BATTALION CHIEFS ........................................................................... 1010 

ARTICLE 13    MOBILIZATIONS ........................................................................................................ 1111 

ARTICLE 14    UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE CLOTHING ............................................................ 1111 

ARTICLE 15    EMERGENCY LEAVE ............................................................................................... 1111 

ARTICLE 16    BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ........................................................................................... 1111 

ARTICLE 17   HOLIDAYS ................................................................................................................. 1212 

ARTICLE 18    LEAVE SELECTION .................................................................................................. 1313 

ARTICLE 19    MEDICAL AND DENTAL INSURANCE COVERAGE ................................................ 1313 

ARTICLE 20   SICK LEAVE .............................................................................................................. 1313 

ARTICLE 21    GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ...................................................................................... 1515 

ARTICLE 22   ACTING PAY .............................................................................................................. 1717 

ARTICLE 23   JURY DUTY/WITNESS SERVICES .......................................................................... 1717 

ARTICLE 24    RETIREMENT AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS ................................... 1818 

ARTICLE 25   MEDICAL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM ............................................. 1818 

ARTICLE 26   FUTURE FIREFIGHTER BARGAINING UNIT NEGOTIATION IMPACTS ............... 1818 

ARTICLE 27    SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS ............................................................................ 1919 

ARTICLE 28    PROMOTIONS/APPOINTMENTS ............................................................................. 1919 

ARTICLE 29   SHIFT AND STATION BID ............................................................................................... 0 

ARTICLE 30    LIGHT DUTY .................................................................................................................... 0 

ARTICLE 31   SENIORITY LIST/PERSONNEL REDUCTION ............................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 32    RULES AND REGULATIONS .......................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 33    SHIFT TRADES/EARLY RELIEF ................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE 34   TERMINATION/ RESIGNATION I RETIREMENT LEAVE BUY-OUT ............................. 2 

ARTICLE 35    EDUCATIONAL REIMBURSEMENT ............................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 36    CONTINUING EDUCATION/PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ................................... 3 

ARTICLE 37    WELLNESS PROGRAM .................................................................................................. 3 

71



  Page 3 of 26   

ARTICLE 38   CROSS SHIFT ROVER BATTALION CHIEF .................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 39    CONSOLIDATION ............................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE 40    SAVING CLAUSE .......................................................................................................... 55 

ARTICLE 41    TERM OF AGREEMENT ............................................................................................... 55 

 
 
PREAMBLE 
 
This aAgreement is entered into by and between CENTRAL PIERCE FIRE & RESCUE 
hereinafter referred to as the "District" and IAFF LOCAL NO. 726 CHIEFS BARGAINING 
UNIT, hereinafter referred to as the "Union". 
 
The purpose of this Agreement is to achieve and maintain harmonious relations between 
the District and the Union employees, to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustments 
of differences which may arise, and to establish proper standards of wages, hours and 
other conditions of employment. 
 
ARTICLE 1   RECOGNITION 

 
1.1  The District recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all the 

employees of the following ranks: Assistant Chief and Battalion Chief 
 

ARTICLE 2   UNION MEMBERSHIP/AUTHORIZED PAYROLL DEDUCTION 
 

2.1 New Employee Orientation.  The District shall provide a copy of this Agreement  
to each employee upon entering the bargaining unit.  The District will provide a 
list to the Union via electronic mail of new employees.  A representative of the 
Union will be permitted no less than thirty (30) minutes to meet with new 
employees during the first ninety (90) days of employment pursuant to RCW 
41.56.037.  No employee will be required to participate in that meeting. 

 
2.2 The District agrees to deduct once each month, dues and assessments from the 

pay of those employees who have so authorized it and elected to be a member of 
the Union, and who voluntarily executes a wage assignment authorization form. 
When filed with the District, the authorization form will be honored in accordance 
with its terms unless an employee requests that the District stop deducting dues, 
in which case the employee shall inform the Union and the Union shall inform the 
District to stop deducting dues. Deductions will be transmitted to the Treasurer of 
the Union monthly. Upon issuance and transmission of payment to the Union, the 
District's responsibility shall cease with respect to deductions covered thereby.  
The Union and each employee authorizing the assignment of wages for payment 
of Union dues hereby undertake to indemnify and hold the District harmless from 
all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise against the 
District for or on account of any deduction made from the wages of such employee. 

 

72



  Page 4 of 26   

 
The District agrees to deduct dues and assessments from the pay once each month of 

those employees who individually request, in writing, that such deductions be made. 
The total amount of deduction shall be remitted by the District to the treasurer of the 
Union. This authorization shall remain in force during the term of this aAgreement. 
The Union agrees to hold the District harmless for any action taken against it for 
complying with the provisions of this Article. 

 
ARTICLE 3  UNION SECURITY[hold for future use] 
 
3.1  An employee within the bargaining unit shall, within thirty (30) days from date of 

hire, join the Union or contribute the equivalent of the initial dues and assessments 
and first month's dues to the Union, a non-religious charity or another charitable 
organization mutually agreed upon by the employee affected and the bargaining 
unit. Any employee who does not join the Union shall, by the end of each month, 
contribute the regular monthly dues and any assessments to the Union, a non-
religious charity, or to another charitable organization mutually agreed upon by the 
employee affected and the bargaining unit. Employees who fail to comply shall be 
discharged.  

 
3.2 Non-Compliance: The Union agrees that the District shall not terminate any 

employee under any provision of this Article until notification is provided by the 
Union to the District that an employee has failed to pay the required initiation fee, 
dues, service charge, charity or otherwise comply with the provisions of this Article, 
and until after the employee has had a reasonable period of time within such to 
comply with such requirements. Upon receiving notice of failure to comply with the 
provisions of this Article, the employer District and the Union shall immediately 
meet to review case and decide on action to be taken to secure compliance, or in 
the event of intentional non-compliance, determine the termination date for the 
employee who willfully refuses to comply. Unless due to the District's negligence, 
the Union agrees to hold the District harmless from claims, causes or complaints 
arising out of the termination of employment of any employee to the provision 
hereto. 

 
ARTICLE 4   UNION NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
4.1 The District agrees not to unlawfully discriminate against any employee for or 

because of his/hertheir membership in the Union. 
 
4.2 The District and the Union agree that conditions of employment shall be consistent  
          with applicable municipal, state and federal laws regarding non-discrimination. 
 
4.3 The District and the Union agree that the provisions of this agreement shall be 

applied equally to all employees covered hereby without regard to age, gender, 
creed, religion, color, national origin, marital status, pregnancy, veteran status, 
the presence of any physical, mental or sensory disability, or perceived or actual 

73



  Page 5 of 26   

sexual orientation, or any other criteria established by local, state or federal 
statutes, rules or regulations.   

 
4.4 All references to employees in this contract designates all genders. 
 
 
ARTICLE 5   UNION BUSINESS 
 
5.1  One (1) bargaining unit representative shall be allowed to perform the following 

uUnion business without loss of pay. 
 
5.1.1  Meetings held for the purpose of contract negotiations which are held during 

the employee's normal working hours. 
 
5.1.2  Processing of grievances up to Step Four 4. 
 
5.1.3 Attend seminars, conventions and conferences involving uUnion business, 

provided that the total scheduled time off for all such representatives shall 
not exceed seventy-two (72) hours per year collectively. Union leave shall 
utilize the same request and approval process as other forms of scheduled 
leave. 

 
5.2 The District shall provide reasonable space for the use of a Union bulletin board in 

an accessible and convenient location in each fire station. Such bulletin boards 
shall be for the posting of official union business. 

 
5.3 Representatives of the Union shall be allowed permission to visit work locations of 

the employees covered by this aAgreement at any reasonable time or location for 
the purpose of administering this Agreement or investigating possible grievances. 
Such visitations shall not interfere with the normal operation of the District. The 
Union shall inform the District in writing of the names of current executive board 
members who are designated by the District as representatives of the Union. 
Organizing, campaigning, or solicitation shall not be conducted during work hours. 

 
5.4 Monthly, special, and/or executive board Union meetings may be held in a fire 

station. Notification to hold meetings in the fire station must be made to the Fire 
Chief or his their designee in advance of the meeting. Meeting during business 
hours shall be limited to twelve (12) per year and to a maximum of two (2) hours 
each. Attendance by on duty bargaining unit members at such meetings shall be 
without loss of pay. 

 
ARTICLE 6  PREVAILING RIGHTS 
 
6.1  All rights and privileges held by the Employee at the present time which are not 

included in this aAgreement shall remain in force unchanged and unaffected in any 
manner. 

74



  Page 6 of 26   

 
ARTICLE 7   MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
7.1  Any and all rights concerned with the management and the management and 

operations of the Fire District are exclusively that of the District unless otherwise 
provided by the terms of this aAgreement. 

 
7.2 The District has the authority to adopt rules and regulations including, but not 

limited to, dress, appearance and work performance for the operation of the Fire 
District and the conduct of its employees; provided such rules are not in conflict 
with this aAgreement or with applicable law. 

 
7.3 The District has the right to discipline, suspend, or discharge employees for just 

cause; to assign work and determine duties and performance standards of 
employees; to determine, establish and/or revise the method, processes and 
means of providing departmental service; to determine the number of employees 
to be assigned to duty at any time; and to perform all other functions not otherwise 
expressly limited by this Agreement. 

 
7.4 The District agrees to give notice and to bargain collectively prior to implementation 

of changes in wages, hours or working conditions, where such duty is required 
under RCW 41.56. 

 
7.5 It is further recognized that the Fire District's fire command group works together 

closely, and that this may result in the sharing of tasks between the members of 
the Fire District management group. The Fire District management group shall 
consist of the Fire Chief, Deputy Chief, Assistant Chiefs and Battalion Chiefs. The 
parties agree that this sharing of tasks and responsibilities is beneficial, and that 
the Fire District's fire command group may continue to operate in this fashion. 

 
ARTICLE 8   WAGES 
 
8.1  The monthly wages shall be computed based on a 16% spread between Captain 

and Battalion Chief, with the Assistant Chief rate at 15% above Battalion Chief. 
 
8.2 The District agrees to pay longevity on a monthly basis, according to the following 

schedule: 
 

Completion of 5 years 2% of Battalion Chief Employee’s monthly wage 
 (61-120 months, increase @ completion of the 60th month)  
Completion of 10 years 4% of Battalion Chief  Employee’s monthly wage 
 (121-180 months, increase@ completion of the 120th month) 
Completion of 15 years 6% of Battalion Chief Employee’s monthly wage 
 (181-240 months, increase@ completion of the 180th month) 
Completion of 20 years 8% of Battalion Chief Employee’s monthly wage 
 (241-300 months, increase @ completion of the 240th month) 

75



  Page 7 of 26   

Completion of 25 years 11% of Battalion Chief Employee’s monthly 
wage 
 (301-360 months, increase @ completion of the 300th month) 
Completion of 30 years 13% of Battalion Chief Employee’s monthly 
wage 
 (361+ months, increase @ completion of the 360th month) 

 
8.3 The District will provide Continuing Medical Education for EMT and paramedic 

certifications. No premium pay (paramedic) shall be paid to members of this 
bargaining unit. 

 
8.3.1 One (1) Battalion Chief will act as a program manager for the following 

programs: Technical Rescue, Water Rescue and Hazardous Materials. The 
District will pay an amount equal to two and one one-half percent (2.5%) of 
Battalion Chief wage per month to each program manager. 

 
8.4 Duty Chief. Assistant Chiefs shall be offered to serve in the Duty Chief rotation  

as detailed in policy.  Battalion Chiefs shall not serve in the role of 
Duty Chief.  Newly hired/promoted Assistant Chiefs will have to “opt 
in” or “opt out” at the time of their appointment.   

 
8.4.1 If the pool of Assistant Chiefs that are qualified drop below five (5), the 

Parties agree to meet and discuss the terms of this AgreementArticle.   
 
8.4.2 In the event that an Assistant Chief lives outside of the Take Home Vehicle 

requirements, the Parties agree to meet and discuss the terms of this 
AgreementArticle. 

 
8.4.3 In consideration of these additional duties, the District will pay a monthly 

premium to each participating Assistant Chief equal to one and one-half 
percent (1.5%) of the Assistant Chief base wage. 

  
ARTICLE 9   HOURS 
 
9.1 Day Shift Employees 

Normal working hours for employees shall be forty (40) hours per week. Employees 
may work four (4) -– ten (10) hour days per week, with approval of the Fire Chief. 
Day Shift employeesAssistant Chiefs work a flex schedule that may change their 
daily hours. 

 
9.2 24 Hour Shift Employees 

Duty hours shall be three (3) twenty-four 24- hours shiftstours of duty every nine 
(9) days. 
(AKA Modified Detroit fifty-six (56) - hours schedules). 

 

76



  Page 8 of 26   

9.2.1 The average work week shall be equivalent to the average work week in the 
Firefighters Bargaining Unit aAgreement. The appropriate number of Kelly 
Shifts shall be scheduled off in compliance with FLSA. 

 
9.2.2 24 Hour Shift Employees will only be allowed to work seventy-two (72) hours 

straight, and are then required to take a twelve (12)- hour break. 
 
ARTICLE 10  PERFORMANCE OF DUTY 
 
10.1 Nothing in this aAgreement shall be construed to give an employee the right to 

strike and no employee shall strike or refuse to perform his their assigned duties 
to the best of their abilities during the term of this aAgreement. The Union agrees 
that it will not condone or cause any strike, mass sick call or any other form of work 
stoppage or interference to the normal operations of the Fire District during the 
term of this aAgreement. 

 
10.2 Neither an employee nor the District shall intentionally waive any provisions of this 

contract, unless such waiver is mutually agreed upon by the Union and the District. 
 
ARTICLE 11   VACATION 
 
11.1 Employees shall accumulate vacation compensation beginning on the date of 

employment and shall become eligible for vacation leave upon completion of one 
(1) full year of employment. 

 
11.2 Each employee shall be granted a vacation in accordance with the following 

schedule: 
 

24- Hour Employees: 
 Annually     Monthly 
 
1st year of service 120 hours 1- 12 months 10 hours 
Completion of 1 year 168 hours 13 - 60 months 14 hours 

(Increase at completion of 12th month) 
Completion of 5 years 216 hours 61- 120 months 18 hours 

(Increase at completion of 60th month) 
Completion of 10 years 264 hours 121- 168 months 22 hours 

(Increase at completion of 120th month) 
Completion of 15 years 312 hours 169 - 228 months 26 hours 

(Increase at completion of 168th month) 
Completion of 20 years 336 hours 229 - 288 months 28 hours 

(Increase at completion of 228th month) 
Completion of 25 years 360 hours 289+ months 30 hours 

(Increase at completion of 288th month) 
 
 

77



  Page 9 of 26   

40- Hour Week Employees: 
 Annually     Monthly 
 
1st year of service 80 hours 1-12 months  6.67 hours 
Completion of 1 year 120 hours 13 - 60 months  10 hours 

(Increase at completion of 12th month) 
Completion of 5 years 160 hours 61 - 120 months  13.34 hours 

(Increase at completion of 60th month) 
Completion of 10 years 180 hours 121- 168 months  15 hours 

(Increase at completion of 120th month) 
Completion of 15 years 200 hours 169 - 228 months  16.67 hours 

(Increase at completion of 168th month) 
Completion of 20 years 265 hours 229 - 288 months  22.09 hours 

(Increase at completion 228th month) 
Completion of 25 years 280 hours 289 + months  23.34 hours 

(Increase at completion of 288th month) 
 
11.3 It is recognized that personnel assigned to day shiftAssistant Chiefs will be required 

to spend additional time over and above their regular work-week engaged in 
activities for the District. Since day shift personnelAssistant Chiefs do not receive 
FLSA overtime or comp time, the parties agree that these members in the 
bargaining unit shall receive "Executive Leave" each year in lieu of overtime pay. 
Day shift personnelAssistant Chiefs will receive fifty (50) hours annually, which will 
be credited to their vacation banks on January 1. 

 
It is understood that this aAgreement shall be interpreted and applied in such a 
manner which will ensure, to the fullest extendextent possible, the continued 
exempt status of day shift personnel. 

 
11.4 Persons hired from Day one (1) to Day fifteen (15) of a month will be assigned 

vacation anniversary date of Day one (1) of the month hired. Persons hired from 
Day sixteen (16) to the last day of the month will be assigned a vacation 
anniversary date of Day one (1) of the month following the month hired. 

 
11.5 Vacation hours will be awarded on a monthly basis. Employees' maximum vacation 

accrual on December 31st shall not exceed two (2) years' worth of accrual. Unused 
vacation in excess of the amount set forth above shall be forfeited except in the 
extreme and/or unusual circumstances approved by the District (i.e. extended 
period of disability leave or vacation scheduling difficulties). The District will notify 
an employee when they exceed the agreed upon maximum amount. The employee 
will take immediate action to reduce their hours. 

 
11.6 Employees will earn the appropriate monthly accrual in accordance with their 

assigned position and schedule, twenty-four (24)- hour shift or forty (40)- hour day 
shift. When it becomes necessary to transfer personnel from Day Shift to twenty-
four (24)- hour Shifts, or vice versa, existing leave banks will not be converted; 

78



  Page 10 of 26   

however, the employee's accrual rate may change. The employee will accrue 
vacation at the rate of the assignment held for the majority of the month. In the 
case that the assignment is equally split in the month, the accrual will be at the 
previous month's rate. 

 
ARTICLE 12  OVERTIME - BATTALION CHIEFS 
 
12.1 Shift Battalion Chiefs required to work more than their regular scheduled duty hours 

shall be entitled to overtime compensation. or compensatory time unless 
specifically otherwise noted in this article. Compensatory time accrual is capped at 
forty-eight (48) hours. If compensatory time is elected, employees may elect to 
cash out compensatory time on a monthly basis. For the monthly cash out, 
employee must notify Payroll by the published monthly payroll deadline. Any 
unused compensatory time accrued through November 30 will be cashed out 
annually by December 31. Any unused compensatory time accrued in December 
will roll over to the next calendar year. 

 
 12.1.1 Day Shift Battalion Chief(s) 
 

Day Shift Overtime - when approved by their supervisor in advance, and 
who work more than their regular scheduled daily hours, shall be entitled to 
overtime compensation.   
 
24-Hour Shift Overtime – the Day Shift BC is not eligible to work shift 
overtime unless the overtime is on a day the Day Shift BC is not scheduled 
to work.  

 
12.1.2 The overtime rate, whether worked on a day schedule or a shift schedule, 

shall be paid at their Day Shift rate.   Day Shift Battalion Chief(s) are not 
eligible to receive compensatory time. 

 
12.2 The Cross Shift Rover Battalion Chief (CSRBC) may elect compensatory time in 

lieu of overtime.  If compensatory overtime is elected, employees may elect to cash 
out compensatory time on a monthly basis.  For the monthly cash out, CSRBC 
must notify Payroll by the published monthly payroll deadline.  The CSRBC shall 
be allowed to accrue up to one hundred forty-four (144) hours from one (1) year to 
another. If a CSRBC vacates their position, they must schedule accrued comp-
time hours or be cashed out by December 31 of the year that the CSRBC vacates 
the position.   

 
12.2 A member who has been assigned or promoted to a Battalion Chief  day shift 

position, or was in an Assistant Chief position that was not eligible to work overtime, 
and returns back to a shift position within the Chief Officer Bargaining Unit will be 
placed one (1) hour above the third (3rd) person with the highest number of hours 
on the list upon returning to this position.  If the person entering the bargaining unit 

79



  Page 11 of 26   

(or is returning to a Battalion Chief position) has more hours than the third (3rd) 
person on the list, their hours will not be adjusted down. 

  
 
ARTICLE 13   MOBILIZATIONS 
 
13.1 In the event that employees covered by this aAgreement are assigned by the 

District to work at an incident where a Regional, State, or Federal deployment has 
been initiated under a Participating Agency Agreement or a MOU, all hours shall 
be compensated portal to portal. All hours above the employee's normal work 
schedule will be compensated at an overtime rate of one and one-half (1.5) times. 

 
13.2 Participation in off-duty, out of District mobilizations will be at the employee's 

discretion. 
 
13.3 All District approved training that is done related to mobilization participation 

activities conducted outside of the District will be viewed as authorized District 
training, and therefore reportable to L&I. 

 
ARTICLE 14   UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE CLOTHING 
 
14.1 Upon and throughout employment, as defined in the Uniforms and Personal 

Protection Equipment Policy, the District will furnish to each employee uniform 
items. Such items shall be replaced at no cost to the employee, based on fair wear 
and tear according to District policy. 

 
ARTICLE 15   EMERGENCY LEAVE 
 
15.1 In the event of an emergency in the immediate family of the employee which 

requires the presence of the employee, the employee may be granted immediate 
leave with pay, said leave being deducted from the employee's appropriate 
accrued leave. 

 
15.2 The employee shall be required to return to work within two (2) hours or call 

Supervisor within two (2) hours to give an update on the situation. 
 

15.3 "Emergency" is defined as an event sudden in onset and unexpected, and which 
demands immediate action by the employee. 

 
ARTICLE 16   BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
16.1 Shift Employee: In the event of a death in the immediate family of an employee, 

the employee shall be granted up to two (2) shifts off with pay. The Fire Chief may, 
at his their sole discretion, grant the third shift off with pay. 

 

80



  Page 12 of 26   

16.2 Day Shift Employee: In the event of a death in the immediate family of an 
employee, the employee shall be granted up to four (4) days off with pay. The Fire 
Chief may, at his their sole discretion, grant the fifth day off with pay. 

 
16.3 Immediate Family - The immediate family shall be defined as the spouse and 

children of the employee, parents or step parents, brother, sister, grandchildren, 
grandparents of the employee, and those of the employee's spouse. 

 
ARTICLE 17  HOLIDAYS 
 
17.1 Day Shift Employees.  The business offices of CPFR will be closed to the public 

and employees are required to use paid leave if the holiday falls on a normal work 
day. The following Washington State legal holidays are observed: 

 
 

New Year's Day 
January 1 
Martin Luther King Jr.'s Birthday 
President's Day  
Memorial Day  
Juneteenth 
Independence Day  
Labor Day  
Veteran's Day  
Thanksgiving Day 
Friday following Thanksgiving 

Christmas Day 
3rd Monday in January 
3rd Monday in February 
Last Monday in May 
June 19th  
July 4th  
1st Monday in September 
November 11th  
4th Thursday in November  
Friday after Thanksgiving Day  
December 25th 

 
If the Washington State legal holiday falls on a Saturday, the business office will be closed 
on the Friday before. If the legal holiday falls on a Sunday, the business office will be 
closed on the following Monday. 
 
17.2 Day Shift employees shall be awarded one-hundred and twenty one hundred 

twelve ((t1120) holiday hours on an annual basis. Employees may elect to receive 
a cash payment of base pay at the straight time rate for up to the maximum one- 
hundred and  twentywelve (1120) holiday hours each year. Employees who elect 
to sell back the holiday hours must use other accrued leave to cover the recognized 
and observed holidays. However, it is understood that day shift employees may 
choose to work Martin Luther King Jr.'s Birthday, President's Day, Juneteenth, 
Independence Day and the Friday following Thanksgiving, with supervisory 
approval. 

 
17.3  24- hour Shift Employees In 2022, shift employees shall receive two- hundred and 

fourtyfortysixteen (24016) hours as holiday leave. Beginning in 2023, shift 
employees shall receive twoone hundred and -sixteenninety-two (216192) hours 
as holiday leave.  Employees may elect to receive a cash payment of base pay at 

81



  Page 13 of 26   

the straight time rate for up to the maximum holiday award each year, in lieu of 
holidays worked. 

 
17.4  Each employee shall elect prior to November 1st, of the prior year, on forms 

provided by the District, the requested cash payment or time off. The cash payment 
shall be paid to each employee, having made such an election, on the last pay date 
in the month of November of year earned. 

 
17.5  Holiday time off shall be scheduled in accordance with the provisions of the Leave 

Selection Article. 
 
ARTICLE 18   LEAVE SELECTION 
 
18.1  Vacation leave will be scheduled by seniority prior to December 1st  forst for the 

next year. Other leave requests submitted throughout the year will be approved on 
a first come, first served basis. Once leave is approved, it may only be cancelled 
or re-scheduled by mutual consent. 

 
18.2  Battalion Chiefs assigned to twenty-four (24) hour shifts must give at least seventy-

two (72) hours’ notice when requesting leave.  Requests will be approved provided 
no more than one (1) Battalion Chief can be scheduled off for a Kelly shift. 

 
ARTICLE 19   MEDICAL AND DENTAL INSURANCE COVERAGE 
 
19.1  The Union and District have entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (dated 

November December 17, 20162019) which covers healthcare benefits. While the 
financial obligations of the District and employee will be considered in the total cost 
of compensation affixed to this Agreement, the cost and other terms of healthcare 
shall be negotiated pursuant to the MOU. The parties agree to begin negotiating in 
May, 20192022, for the terms and conditions of healthcare to be effective on 
January 1, 20202023. 

 
ARTICLE 20  SICK LEAVE 
 
20.1  Full-time employees assigned to shift work shall accumulate sick leave at the rate 

of twenty-four (24) hours for each full month of service up to a maximum 
accumulation of 2000 hours. 

 
20.2 Full-time employees assigned to a forty (40) hour workweek shall accumulate paid 

sick leave at the rate of seventeen (17) hours for each full month of service up to 
a maximum accumulation of one thousand, five humdredhundred and sixty (1560) 
hours. 

 
20.3  In the case of employees who are absent due to illness or injury for which they are 

receiving payment from State Industrial Insurance, the Employer’s District’s  
obligation shall be limited to the difference between the employee's basic salary 

82



  Page 14 of 26   

and the amount received from the State. Sick leave shall be charged on a prorated 
basis in such cases until exhausted. 

 
20.4 Sick Leave shall be granted for the following reasons: 
 

20.4.1 Personal illness or incapacity of the employee; 
 
20.4.2 District agrees to comply with the Family Medical Leave Act (Federal), 

Family Care Act (State), and Family Leave Act (State). Refer to policies 
for specific details. If an employee stays home to care for an ill child, that 
employee will be required to return to work when spouse or other family 
member arrives home from work, and can assume care of the ill child. 

 
When other family members normally responsible for child care are 
incapacitated, other child care arrangements will need to be made. Sick 
leave usage will be denied for child care purposes, when children are not 
ill. 

 
20.4.3 Scheduled doctors' appointments, which due to circumstances, cannot be 

scheduled while off duty. 
 
20.5  When an employee goes on sick leave he/shethey must notify his/hertheir 

supervisor immediately.  Shift personnel must make notification at least one (1) 
hour prior to start of duty shift. Failure to do so may result in a denial of sick leave 
compensation. The Fire Chief or designee may require a certification of the 
employee's condition by a designated District medical facility after the employee 
has used seventy-two (72) hours in a calendar year. 

 
20.6 No compensation for accrued sick leave shall be paid at the termination of 

employment, except upon retirement through the Washington State Department 
of Retirement Systems (DRS) LEOFF II Pension Plan or at least twenty (20) 
years of service with Central Pierce when separation occurs. 

 
20.7 The Department agrees to buy back sick leave hours in excess of the employee's 

maximum accrual at the rate of twenty-five percent (25%) of the employee's base 
pay. Sick leave buy back will be paid in November of each year and will be treated 
as regular income. Upon retirement, sick leave bank will be bought out at twenty-
five percent (25%) of base salary for all accrued sick leave hours. 

 
20.8 Sick leave shall not accrue during leaves of absence without pay or layoffs. 
 
20.9 Employees will earn the appropriate monthly accrual in accordance with their 

assigned position and schedule, twenty-four (24) hour shift or forty (40)- hour day 
shift. When it becomes necessary to transfer personnel from day shift to twenty-
four (24)- hour shifts, or vice versa, existing banks will not be converted; however, 
the employee's accrual rate may change. The employee will accrue sick leave at 

83



  Page 15 of 26   

the rate of the assignment held for the majority of the month. In the case that the 
assignment is equally split in the month, the accrual will be at the previous 
month's rate. 

 
20.10  On date of hire, both shift and day personnel shall have available to them ninety- 

six (96) hours of sick leave. Accrual will not begin until employee has completed 
six (6) months of service. If an employee terminates or is terminated before 
unearned sick leave hours are replaced the unearned sick leave will be deducted 
from the final pay check. 

 
20.11 Sick leave will be deducted at two (2) times the hours used by the employee for 

unexcused sick leave on shift trades. Only twenty-four (24) hours per shift will 
count towards Policy 214 and Article 20.6. 

 
20.12 Washington State Paid Family & Medical Leave - Eligible employees are covered 

by Washington’s Family and Medical Leave Program, RCW 50A.04.  Eligibility for 
leave and benefits is established by Washington law and is therefore independent 
of this Agreement.  Premiums for benefits are established by law and are split 
between the Employee and Employer.  Employees will pay through payroll 
deduction the full cost of the premiums associated with family leave benefits as 
determined by the State pursuant to RCW 50A.10.030.  The District will pay the 
remaining premium amounts, as determined by the State. 

 
ARTICLE 21   GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
21.1 Grievances are defined as disputes arising between the employee (or Union) and 

the District with respect to the interpretation or application of specific term(s) of this 
Agreement or those disputes over discipline for just cause. Grievances shall be 
settled according to the following procedure. 

 
21.2 In the grievance procedure, the aggrieved employee shall have the right as 

guaranteed by RCW 41.56.080 to represent himself or herselfthemselfthemselves 
or to be represented by a Union representative. In addition, the Union has the right, 
in its own capacity, to act as an aggrieved party in the grievance procedure. In the 
event the aggrieved party is an individual employee, the grievance procedure shall 
begin with Step One (1). In the event the aggrieved party is the Union, the 
grievance procedure shall begin with Step Two (2), provided the Union initiates 
such proceedings by filing a written grievance within twenty (20) calendar days of 
the knowledge of the alleged grievance. 

 
21.3 A grievance not brought or appealed by the aggrieved employee (or Union) within 

the prescribed time limits shall be considered resolved on the basis of the District’s 
last response. A grievance not responded to by the District within the prescribed 
time limits shall permit the grievant to advance the grievance to the next step. 

 
21.4 A grievance shall be submitted in writing and shall contain the following: 

84



  Page 16 of 26   

 
A. A statement of the grievance and the facts upon which it is based;  
B. The date or dates of the alleged violation; 
C. A statement of the specific provision(s) of the collective bargaining agreement 

alleged to have been violated; 
D. The manner in which the provision is alleged to have been violated; 
E. The specific remedy sought; 
F. The signature of the aggrieved employee. 

 
21.5 A grievance shall be processed in the following manner, except that time limits may 

be extended or waived by written mutual agreement of both parties. 
 
Step One 
The grievant shall present the grievance to the immediate supervisor within twenty 
(20) calendar days of knowledge of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the 
grievance; provided however, no grievance shall be filed for an alleged violation 
occurring more than ninety (90) days after the alleged occurrence. The grievant 
shall meet and discuss the grievance with the supervisor who shall respond in 
writing, affirming or denying the grievance within twenty (20) calendar days of the 
meeting with the grievant. 
 
Step Two 
If the grievance is not resolved at Step One, the grievant shall submit it, in writing, 
to the Fire Chief of the District or his their designee. Within twenty (20) calendar 
days of the supervisor's written response the Fire Chief shall, upon receipt, date 
the written form submitted. Within twenty (20) calendar days, or on a mutually 
agreed upon date, following receipt of the written form, the Fire Chief will schedule 
a meeting to discuss the issue(s). In attendance shall be one (1) person 
representing the Union, the grievant, the Fire Chief and one (1) persons designated 
by the Fire Chief. Following discussion of the issue(s), the Fire Chief shall direct a 
written response to the grievant(s). 
 
The Fire Chief shall respond in writing within twenty (20) calendar days from the 
mutually agreed upon date; provided, however, that if the Fire Chief is unavailable 
at the time the grievance is submitted to Step Two, the time limit for the Fire Chief’s 
response shall be extended an additional twenty (20) calendar days. 
 
Step Three 
If the grievance is not resolved at Step Two, the grievant with the consent of the 
Union may, within twenty (20) calendar days from receipt of the response in Step 
Two, appeal the grievance to the Board of Fire Commissioners by filing written 
notice with the District Secretary. The Board shall conduct a hearing and transmit 
its decision to the grievant and the Union within twenty (20) calendar days of the 
conclusion of the hearing. 
 
Step Four 

85



  Page 17 of 26   

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the Union at Step Three, the 
Union may submit the matter to arbitration. Within twenty (20) calendar days of 
receipt of the Board's findings the Union shall notify the Board in writing of its intent 
to arbitrate the issue. Within twenty (20) calendar days of the Union's request to 
arbitrate, a representative of the Union and of the District shall meet and attempt 
to agree on a neutral arbitrator.  If unable to reach agreement, they shall request a 
list of seven (7) arbitrators from the Public Employment Relations Commission. 
Upon receipt of the list, the two (2) representatives shall meet within twenty (20) 
calendar days to alternately strike names until one (1) name remains. This person 
shall service as the sole arbitrator. 

 
21.6 The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from or in any 

manner modify the terms of this aAgreement, nor to determine any issue other than 
that submitted. The decision of the arbitrator shall be in writing setting forth the 
arbitrators reasoning shall be final and binding on all parties. 

 
21.7 The arbitrators' decision shall be made in writing and should be issued to the 

parties within thirty (30) calendar days after the hearing. 
 
21.8 Expenses and compensation for the arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall 

be shared equally between the parties; provided, however, each party shall be 
solely and completely responsible for all costs of preparing and presenting its own 
case. If either party desires a record of the proceeding, it shall solely bear the cost 
of such recording, unless both parties agree to share the record and equally share 
the cost. 

 
21.9 If an employee is given a directive by a supervisor which the employee believes to 

be in conflict with any provisions of this Agreement, the employee shall comply with 
the directive at the time it is given, and thereafter, exercise his/hertheir right to 
grieve the matter. The employee's compliance with such directive will not prejudice 
the employee's complaint with such a grievance, and such compliance will not 
affect the resolution of the grievance. 

 
ARTICLE 22  ACTING PAY 
 
22.1 Acting Pay - An employee who is re-assigned to cover the duties of a superior 

position for greater than thirty (30) calendar days will be compensated at the rate 
commensurate with that position, retroactive back to the first day. 

 
ARTICLE 23  JURY DUTY/WITNESS SERVICES 
 
23.1 Employees summoned for jury duty will be granted a sufficient leave of absence 

from employment. 24- hour shift employees are expected to return to work and 
complete their shift when not actually serving as a juror (RCW 2.36.13). Any jury 
duty pay (exclusive of expenses) received for service on a work day shall be 
reimbursed to the District. 

86



  Page 18 of 26   

 
23.2 An employee shall continue to receive normal wages for any period of required 

service as a witness in any judicial proceeding in which the employee is 
subpoenaed to appear as a result of, or related to, the performance of official duties 
with the District. All money received for witness fees, while on duty shall be 
surrendered to the District. Employees scheduled to work will report for work when 
less than a scheduled work shift is required by such duties. Employee shall receive 
overtime if subpoenaed off duty to appear for work related proceedings. 

 
ARTICLE 24   RETIREMENT AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
24.1 Employees working under this contract will be enrolled in the Law Enforcement 

Officers and Firefighters (LEOFF) Retirement System through the State of 
Washington. 

 
24.2 The VOYA, AristaDecision-Point, and Washington State Employees 457 Deferred 

Compensation Plans shall be made available to employees of the bargaining unit, 
with the option to participate. Employees shall be governed by the requirements of 
the plan. Employees who have Deferred Compensation Plans in ICMA or 
Nationwide will have the remainder of this contract to move their plans to the 
recognized providers. 

 
24.3 The District shall contribute an amount equal to what the FF Bargaining Unit 

receives per month per employee to the deferred compensation plan. 
 
24.4 The District acknowledges contributions to a Deferred Compensation Program for 

those former employees of Pierce County Fire Protection Districts 7 and 9 equaling 
3.2% of the District's share of FICA contributions as of February 15, 1996. Such 
contributions will remain constant for the employees' term of employment. 

 
Employees hired after February 15,1996 are not eligible for FICA contributions to 
a Deferred Compensation Program. 

 
ARTICLE 25  MEDICAL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM 
 
25.1 The District shall allow employees to contribute an appropriate amount per month, 

to the Washington State Council of Firefighters Medical Expense Reimbursement 
Plan. The District shall facilitate employee deductions through payroll deduction. It 
is acknowledged that the District's role is administrative only. The plan requires 
participation by all bargaining unit members. 

 
ARTICLE 26    FUTURE FIREFIGHTER BARGAINING UNIT NEGOTIATION IMPACTS 
 
26.1 The District agrees to adjust the terms of this aAgreement to reflect any negotiated 

changes that occur in future FF bargaining unit agreements. Included will be 
increases or decreases in wages or benefits for the following articles: 

87



  Page 19 of 26   

 
Wages as reflected in Schedule 
"A" Light Duty 
Union Security 
Medical/Dental Coverage 
Deferred Compensation 
Sick Leave 
Jury Duty 
Performance of Duty 

Seniority/Personnel Reduction 
Supplemental Agreements 
Education 
Emergency Leave 
Bereavement Leave 
Payroll Deduction 

 

ARTICLE 27   SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS 
 
27.1 This Agreement may be amended provided both parties concur. If both parties 

concur, supplemental Agreements may be completed through negotiations at any 
time during the life of this Agreement. Supplemental Agreement thus completed 
will be signed by the responsible Union and District officials. Supplemental 
Agreement thus completed shall become a part of the larger Agreement and 
subject to all its provisions. 

 
ARTICLE 28   PROMOTIONS/APPOINTMENTS 
 
28.1 Assistant Chiefs will be appointed by the Fire Chief. Appointed positions can be re-

assigned back to their previous position at any time. These re-assignments may 
cause a bump down of promotions based on seniority in rank. If a person is 
demoted due to a bump down, they are eligible for the next promotion to their 
previous position. 

 
28.2 Promotions to any Chief Officer position can be re-assigned to their previous 

bargaining unit position without losing seniority provided they have continued to 
pay uUnion dues. 

 
28.3 Voluntary demotions and bump downs will be handled on a case by case basis. 
 
28.4 Chief Officers hired from outside the District are not eligible for voluntary or 

mandatory demotion. 
 
28.5 The intent is to promote from within the organization, provided there are qualified 

applicants from within. If there are no qualified applicants, the District reserves the 
right to hire from outside the organization. 

 
28.6 Non-represented Chief Officers (Deputy Chief/Fire Chief) have the employment 

rights at the rank and wage scale of their previously held position within the Chief's 
Bargaining Unit, should they choose to resign the position, or be separated from 
the position of Deputy Chief or Fire Chief by anything other than action that is cause 
for termination. 

 

88



 

They would not have any bumping rights to any occupied Assistant Chief or Battalion 
Chief position. They would, however, have seniority rights should an Assistant Chief's or 
Battalion Chief's position becomes available. The likely scenario is that an employee 
stepping back would ultimately fill the position vacated by any upward movement to fill 
their former position. If no position is available, the District would have the right to create 
a new position until a vacancy opens up. 
 

To have any rights to step back into a bargaining unit position, it will be a 
requirement that a non-represented employee (Deputy Chief or Fire Chief) 
maintain Union affiliation by paying full monthly dues to IAFF Local 726. By paying 
dues, the mMembers will maintain seniority accrual for the positions covered by 
the Chief's Bargaining Unit (Battalion Chief or Assistant Chief) as if they were in 
the position. A non-represented member who did not pay monthly dues would be 
required to pay all dues back prior to returning, as well as an additional amount 
equal to the amount paid. 

 
A non-represented Chief Officer who elects to step back into the Chief's Bargaining 
Unit may do so no later than their 53rd birthday, and shall only be allowed to do so 
once in their career. This opportunity to step back is done so to recognize and 
accommodate the need to have the personnel step and try new positions without 
the loss of their livelihood. 

 
ARTICLE 29  SHIFT AND STATION BID 
 
29.1 Battalion Chiefs shall bid their shift and station in accordance with the Firefighter's 

Bargaining Unit contractual agreed upon time lines. 
 
29.2 The number of acting Battalion Chiefs shall be limited to two (2) per shift. 
 
29.3 The District may make temporary re-assignments dictated by career mentoring and 

other operational needs. The District may make permanent re-assignments 
dictated by promotions, demotions, apparatus re-location, shift imbalances, 
probation, specialty stations and personnel issues. 

 
ARTICLE 30   LIGHT DUTY 
 
30.1 Employees on temporary disability or extended sick leave may be assigned Light 

Duty as outlined in RCW 41.04.500 through 41.04.550. Light Duty positions shall 
be considered temporary in nature, and shall have a maximum cap of six (6) 
months. The six (6)- month period will be extended by up to an additional six (6) 
months if the treating physician provides a positive prognosis for return to full duty 
within that time period. Light Duty shall not affect previously scheduled leave. 

 
30.2 When a LEOFF II employee is required by the District (on the job injury) to work 

light duty after being released by their physician, such employee shall accrue 
benefits commensurate with the assigned shift.  Work hours shall be mutually 

89



 

agreed on prior to commencement of assigned duty, hours shall be worked within 
the scope of the contract. 

 
30.3 All light duty assignments must be job related and of a constructive nature. No 

more than three (3) light duty positions (total for the combined Firefighter's and 
Chief's Bargaining Units) will be assigned to shift schedule an act as a Battalion 
Chief driver and aid, if their work restrictions will allow. This will be on a first come, 
first served basis for those on L&I Iight duty only. Non-duty related injury light duty 
shall not be eligible for these positions. When not driving, other duties will be 
assigned by the District. After one hundred eighty (180) days as a driver and aid, 
the employee will be assigned to a day shift light duty assignment, assuming they 
are still eligible for light duty. Such assignments will be consistent with other 
provisions of this article and the light duty policy. 

 
30.4 Employees injured off duty may request light duty subject to the approval of the 

District. 
 
ARTICLE 31  SENIORITY LIST/PERSONNEL REDUCTION 
 
31.1 In the case of personnel reduction, the employee with the least seniority shall be 

laid off first. No new employee shall be hired until the laid off employee has been 
given the opportunity to return to work. Employees will be rehired in the reverse 
order that they were laid-off. Employees shall lose all seniority in the event of a 
layoff after twenty-four (24) months. Employees on leave of absence for more than 
twelve (12) months shall not accumulate seniority during such absence. After forty-
eight (48) months if the employee is still laid-off, the employee will lose re-hire 
rights. 

 
31.2  The District shall maintain a current listing of the seniority of all employees covered 

under this aAgreement. Seniority ranking shall be in accordance with the 
employee's date of hire. Where two (2) or more employees are hired on the same 
date, seniority shall be in accordance with the employee's overall test score on the 
entrance examination. 

 
31.3  Any officer that is reduced in rank due to a reduction of personnel or response 

apparatus, shall have first right of refusal at their previously held rank when the 
next promotion is available. In the event of multiple rank reductions, the above shall 
be in order of seniority of promotion (last demotion, first promotion). 

 
ARTICLE 32   RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 
32.1  If the District wished to make a change in the District's Rules and Regulations, the 

District will notify the Union in writing of their intent. The Union will be given twenty-
one (21) days to review all such changes, and request bargaining pursuant to RCW 
41.56. A request for an extension will not be unreasonably denied. 

 

90



 

ARTICLE 33   SHIFT TRADES/EARLY RELIEF 
 
33.1  Shift Trades - Qualified employees shall have the right to exchange hours. The 

employee who is assigned to work as the result of a shift trade request shall be 
held responsible to work the traded time. This employee shall be entitled to all 
benefits afforded other members. Trade hours shall not constitute FLSA hours. 

 
33.2  Early Relief - Qualified employees are allowed to relieve another employee serving 

the previous shift prior to the actual scheduled starting time of the oncoming shift. 
This is entirely a voluntary practice on the part of the employees and shall not have 
the affecteffect of increasing or decreasing the number of compensable hours of 
work of the employees. 

 
ARTICLE 34  TERMINATION/ RESIGNATION I RETIREMENT LEAVE BUY-OUT 
 
34.1 Should an employee voluntarily resign employment, the employee shall give the 

District advance written notice of not less than fourteen (14) days. In the event of 
failure to comply with the notice provisions of this section, the resignation shall be 
deemed a quit, and employee shall forfeit all accrued leave. If an employee gives 
required notice and the District elects to have the employee leave prior to the 
fourteen (14) days, the employee shall be paid for the remainder of the fourteen 
(14) days and shall receive their accrued leave buy-outs. 

 
34.2 Employees shall be paid for any unused accumulation of vacation, comp time, sick 

leave (as provided for in Article 20.7) and accumulation of holiday hours on a pro-
rated basis when they are permanently separated from employment, as provided 
for in this Agreement, unless discharged for gross misconduct. 

 
34.2.1 Gross misconduct is defined as deliberate acts of violence, financially 

defrauding the District, murder, sexual assault, embezzlement, under the 
influence of illegal drugs or alcohol at work, or stealing from District 
employees. In the event an employee is subsequently found not to have 
engaged in gross misconduct (e.g. - jury finds not guilty), the District shall 
make the payout provided for in 34.2 above. 

 
34.3 Mandatory Accrued Sick Leave Contribution. 

The Employer shall, upon the employee’s retirement from the Employer and on 
behalf of the employee, irrevocably contribute to the HRA account on a pre-taex 
basis, and amount equal in value to fifty percent (50%) of the payments that would 
otherwise be paid to the employee for unused sick leave under this Agreement.  
The remaining fifty percent (50%) of the accrued leave payout entitlement under 
this Agreement shall continue to be paid to the employee upon retirement.    

 
 34.3.1 No Individual Employee Election. 

The employee shall not have the option to receive a payout for the value of 
the accrued sick leave contributed to the HRA.  In addition, the employee 

91



 

shall not have the option to contribute a larger or smaller percentage of 
accrued leave than the percentage indicated in 34.3 above. 

 
34.3.2 Remittance of Contributions 

The Employer shall remit the above accrued leave contributions directly to 
the HRA for the duration of this Agreement.  Those contributions shall be 
remitted directly to the custodian of the HRA within 30 days of the date the 
payment would have been payable to the employee. 

 
ARTICLE 35   EDUCATIONAL REIMBURSEMENT 
 
35.1 The District agrees to reimburse the costs of necessary books and 

tuition/registration fees up to the current credit rate for the University of Washington 
(undergraduate program) for fire science, and job related courses, as approved by 
the Fire Chief. Payment shall only be made upon successful completion of 
approved classes, with a passing grade. 

 
ARTICLE 36   CONTINUING EDUCATION/PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
36.1 The District may provide continuing education for the employee to ensure 

competency in the position or meet applicable laws. The employee, when 
authorized, shall attend schools, seminars, conferences and workshops without 
the benefit of extra compensation. However, the District agrees to pay reasonable 
expenses (meals, lodging, tuition/registration, mileage/airfare, etc.) and not deduct 
wages if the employee is scheduled to work during said above activities. 

 
ARTICLE 37   WELLNESS PROGRAM 
 
37.1 Participation in the Physical Fitness Program as mutually set up by the Union and 

the District shall be non-mandatory. The Union and District will appoint a committee 
to return with an annual report no later than September 1st of each year regarding 
the wellness program. 

 
The District shall maintain physical maintain physical fitness equipment at each 
station. Employee are encouraged to participate in physical fitness training, but not 
required to participate. 

 
The District will maintain up to nine (9) fitness trainers (total for the combined 
Firefighter and Chief Bargaining Units). Subject to prior approval, these fitness 
trainers will be paid overtime for required education or if required to provide 
instruction off duty. Overtime will not be paid for initial ACE or PEER certification 
training. 

 
ARTICLE 38  CROSS SHIFT ROVER BATTALION CHIEF 
 

92



 

38.1 The Cross Shift Rover Battalion Chief (CSRBC) position is an FLSA compliant 
position, and as such shall follow the currently established a twenty-seven (27) day 
cycle for calendar year 2022 and a twenty-five (25) day cycle thereafter. 

 
The CSRBC shall not accrue Kelly days and as such shall only schedule, at their 
discretion, the appropriate number of twenty-four (24) hour shifts per cycle as 
identified in Appendix ”A”.   eight (8), twenty-four (24) hour shift in each twenty-
seven (27) day cycle. In the event there are not enough eight (8), twenty-four (24) 
hours shifts available, the CSRBC shall utilized earned leave to equal the 
appropriate number of required shifts.  eight (8) twenty-four (24) hour shifts. 

 
If a Battalion Chief Overtime shiftvacancy becomes available and the CSRBC does 
not have the needed number of shifts (as identified in Appendix “A”) they shall be 
given eight (8) twenty-four (24) hour shifts scheduled, or the CSRBC does not have 
scheduled leave to meet the eight (8) shifts requirement, they shall be given first 
right of refusal for that overtime shift to meet the minimum required shifts. It will be 
the responsibility of the CSRBC to communicate the "need" of any possible work 
opportunities to the Battalion Chief group and staffers. This shift would then be 
compensated at straight time and count toward one (1) of the eight (8) twenty-four 
(24) hour shifts required in the twenty-seven (27) day cycle thus allowing them to 
remove the earned leave from that twenty-seven (27) day cycle.   
 
In the event that tThe CSRBC has eight (8) shifts scheduled during the twenty- 
seven (27) day cycle, and a new work opportunity becomes available, the CSRBC 
may elect to work a new opportunity that shift, in lieu of one (1) of their previously 
scheduled shifts. If the CSRBC elects to take a new work opportunity, the vacated 
shift will be communicated to the Battalion Chief group. Once overtime has been 
awarded, that work opportunity no longer exists. 
 
Beginning January 4, 2023, the Cross Shift Rover (CSRBC) position is an FLSA 
compliant position, and as such shall follow a twenty-five (25) day cycle.  The 
required number of shifts is identified in Appendix A. 
 
The CSRBC will be allowed to exceed the comp-time cap number of hours (forty-
eight (48)) which is identified in the current labor agreement under Article 12.1. The 
CSRBC shall be allowed to accrue up to one hundred forty-four (144) hours from 
one (1) year to another. If a CSRBC vacated this position, they must schedule all 
comp-time hours which are in excess of forty-eight (48) as found in the contract. 
Any unused compensatory time will be cashed out by December 31 of the year 
that the CSRBC vacates the position.  

 
ARTICLE 39   CONSOLIDATION 
 
39.1 If the District is aware of a consolidation, merger, annexation or incorporation 

affecting bargaining unit employees, the District agrees to notify the Union and 
bargain mandatory subjects of bargaining under RCW 41.56. 

93



 

 
ARTICLE 40   SAVING CLAUSE 
 
40.1 Should any provision of this aAgreement or the application of such provision be 

rendered or declared invalid by a court of final jurisdiction or by reason of any 
existing or subsequently enacted legislation; the remaining parts or portions of this 
aAgreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
ARTICLE 41   TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 
41.1 This aAgreement shall become effective January 1, 2018 2022 and shall remain in 

full force and effect until and through December 31, 20202024. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in duplicate 
original this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
 
              
Chairman, Board of Commissioners  Representative  

 
 

 
              
Commissioner     Union Steward 
 
 
              
Commissioner     Bargaining Team 

 
 

              
Commissioner     Bargaining Team 

 
 

        
Commissioner    
 
 
Reviewed and approved, as to form: 
 
 
       
Daniel OlsonDustin Morrow, Fire Chief 
 

94



 

 
       
Tanya Robacker, Finance Director 
 
 
       
Suzi E. Washo, Human Resources Director 

95



Central Pierce Fire & Rescue
Chief's Bargaining Unit
Appendix A - 2022 Salary Schedule
January 1, 2022 - December 31, 2022

Monthly Annual Shift 40 Hr/Wk
Position Salary Salary Hourly Hourly

Assistant Chief (15% above BC) 14,877$           178,524$   68.77$    85.83$        

Battalion Chief (16% above Captain) 12,936$           155,232$   59.80$    74.63$        

Deferred Comp

All ranks - no match required
4.5% of 1st 
Class FF 397.00$     

Longevity Schedule Battalion Chief Assistant Chief

5 - 9 years @ 2% of monthly base salary 259$                298$          
10 - 14 years @ 4% of monthly base salary 518$                596$          
15 - 19 years @ 6% of monthly base salary 777$                893$          

20 - 24 years @ 8 % of monthly base salary 1,035$             1,191$       
25 - 29 years @11% of monthly base salary 1,423$             1,637$       

30+ years @ 13% of monthly base salary 1,682$             1,935$       

Monthly Annual

Duty Chief 224$                2,688$       
(1.5% of AC wage)

Tech Rescue Program Manager Pay 324$                3,888$       
(2.5% of BC wage)

Haz Mat Program Manager Pay 324$                3,888$       
(2.5% of BC wage)

40 Hour/Week Personnel:
Hours worked per year 2,080
Holiday hours per year 120

24 Hour Shift Personnel:
Hours worked per week 49.79
Hours worked per year 2,596

13.5 Kelly Shifts per year 324
Holiday hours per year 240 (2022 only)

Cross Shift Rover Scheduling 2022 2023 & 2024
Cycles per year (average) 13.5 14.5

For 13.5 Cycles 8 - 24-hour shifts N/A
For 6 Cycles* N/A 8 - 24-hour shifts

For 8.5 Cycles* N/A 7 - 24-hour shifts

VEBA contribution = $184 per month, $92 EE only

Medical Cap Initials Reviewed By Date

100% paid for 2022  See MOU dated 12/10/19 ___________ Fire Chief ___________

___________ Union Pres. ___________

___________ HR Director ___________

___________ Chairman/Board ___________

5.8% Base Salary Increase

*In one of these cycles the CSRBC will elect 

to work one (1) twelve (12) hour shift in 

place of one (1) twenty‐four (24) hour shift 

to reach the 107 shifts required

96



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date    May 9, 2022 

Item Title:    Appendix A (2022 salary schedule) for Fire Chief/Deputy Chief 

Attachments:    Appendix A – 2022 Fire Chief/Deputy Chief 

Submitted by    Suzi Washo 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     
 
Motion: To approve the 2022 Salary Schedules for the Fire Chief/Deputy Chiefs. 
 
 
Attached is the 2022 Appendix A Salary Schedule for the Fire Chief/Deputy Chiefs.  Now that 
the 726 Chief’s CBA is before the Board for their approval, we are able to bring forward Fire 
Chief/Deputy Chief schedule as it is created based upon the Local 726 schedules. 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
Included in the 2022 budget. 

97



Central Pierce Fire & Rescue
Fire Chief & Deputy Chief
Appendix A - 2022 Salary Schedule

January 1, 2022 - December 31, 2022
Monthly Annual 40 Hr/Wk

Position Salary Salary Hourly

Fire Chief (9.5% above DC) One Step 18,735$          224,820$      108.09$   

Deputy Chief (15% above AC) One Step 17,109$          205,308$      98.71$     

Deferred Comp (no match req) Monthly Annual
Fire Chief 350$             4,200$            
Deputy Chief 397$             4,764$            

Monthly Annual

Duty Chief (Deputy Chiefs) 257$             3,084$            
(1.5% of DC wage)

Longevity Schedule (monthly) Fire Chief Deputy Chief
5 - 9 years @ 2% of current wage 375$             343$                
10 - 14 years @ 4% of current wage 750$             685$                
15 - 19 years @ 6% of current wage 1,125$          1,027$            
20 - 24 years @ 8 % of current wage 1,499$          1,369$            
25 - 29 years @11% of current wage 2,061$          1,882$            
30+ years @ 13% of current wage 2,436$          2,225$            

Hours worked per year 2,080
Holiday hours per year 112

Sick leave hours per month 10

HRA contribution = Fire Chief $4,000
VEBA contribution = Deputy Chief $184/mo; $92 EE only
Medical Cap
100% for 2022 Initials Reviewed By Date

___________ Fire Chief ___________

___________ HR Director ___________

___________ Chairman/Board ___________

5.8% Base Salary Increase

98



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:   May 9, 2022 

Item Title:    Finance Reorganization and Operations Analyst Salary Ranges 

Attachments:    Addendum to 2022 OPEIU Appendix A 

Submitted by:   Suzi Washo 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     
 
Motion: To approve the addendum to the OPEIU 2022 Salary Schedule (“Appendix 

A”) effective April 1, 2022. 
 
 
Chief Morrow and myself have been working with each internal division to ensure that the 
number of positions and types of positions are in line with the business needs of the District. 
 
Recently we have completed two different evaluations/reclassifications within positions in 
Finance and Operations that are part of the OPEIU bargaining unit. 
 
An agreement was reached with OPEIU on the following items: 
 

 Reclassification of the vacant Fire Service Data Analyst to Operations Analyst 

 Reclassification of the current Payroll Analyst to Payroll Coordinator 

 Reclassification of the current Support Specialist – Finance/Payroll to Payroll Analyst 

 Creation of the Purchasing Analyst position 
 
Attached you will find an addendum to the 2022 salary schedule you previously approved, 
capturing the negotiated/agreed upon pay ranges for these changes.   
 
Myself and Chief Morrow will be available at the meeting in case you should have any 
questions. 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
A budget amendment will be created for all non-budgeted items after Board approval. 
 

99



Central Pierce Fire & Rescue

OPEIU Bargaining Unit

Appendix A ‐ 2022 Salary Schedule

Positions Monthly Annual 40/Hr Week

Salary Salary Hrly Rate

5% Steps from Base Step

Purchasing Analyst 1‐12 months 5,921$                71,052$                             34.16$               

13‐24 months 6,218$                74,616$                             35.87$               

New position eff 4.1.2022 25 ‐ 36 months 6,529$                78,348$                             37.67$               

37‐48 months 6,856$                82,272$                             39.55$               

49‐60+ months 7,199$                86,388$                             41.53$               

Payroll Coordinator 1‐12 months 6,737$                80,844$                             38.87$               

13‐24 months 7,074$                84,888$                             40.81$               

New range eff 4.1.2022  (Current Payroll 25 ‐ 36 months 7,428$                89,136$                             42.85$               

Analyst reclassified effective 4.1.2022 37‐48 months 7,800$                93,600$                             45.00$               

49‐60+ months 8,190$                98,280$                             47.25$               

Operations Analyst 1‐12 months 7,530$                90,360$                             43.44$               

13‐24 months 7,907$                94,884$                             45.62$               

Reclassified from Fire Service  25 ‐ 36 months 8,303$                99,636$                             47.90$               

Data Analyst effective 4.1.2022 37‐48 months 8,719$                104,628$                          50.30$               

49‐60+ months 9,155$                109,860$                          52.82$               

Initials Reviewed By Date

___________ Fire Chief _____________

___________ Shop Steward _____________

___________ HR Director _____________

___________ Chairman Brd _____________

April 1, 2022 Addendum

100



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:  May 9, 2022 

Item Title:  Darkhorse Analytics Contract for Services 

Attachments:  Darkhorse Contract 

Submitted by: Chief Morrow 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
“I move to authorize the Fire Chief to execute the Darkhorse Contract in an amount not to 
exceed $159,500 for the first year of services and appropriate funds from the General 
Fund to Division 200.” 
 
SUMMARY:     
Consistent with the expectations of the Board, Staff is continuing to put in place a level 
of sophistication to understand and deploy our current and future resources with the 
greatest efficiency possible.  
 
The Board has already approved Staff requests for support from Dynamix (standard of 
cover) and Intterra (real time and post incident performance analysis) that supports our 
efforts. The contract with Darkhorse is the final support request as we move to a highly 
sophisticated way in which we understand our data and our deployment, today and into 
the future.  
 
While the initial entry costs with Darkhorse are high, the District is working with the 
Western Fire Chief’s Association to seek reimbursement or cost mitigation efforts that 
may reduce the District’s initial expenses. The ongoing costs for these services are less 
year to year. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
$145,000 Contract 
$  14,500 Est. Tax 
$159,500 from fund balance. 
 

101



 

1 

SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE AGREEMENT (“Agreement) is entered into effective as of April 1, 
2022 (the "Effective Date")  

BETWEEN: 

 
Darkhorse Analytics Inc., a corporation formed under the laws of Alberta, with an address at 10507 Saskatchewan 
Drive, Edmonton, AB T6E 4S1 (“Darkhorse”) 

and  

Central Pierce Fire & Rescue, with an address of 17520 22nd Ave E, Tacoma, WA 98445 (PO Box 940, Spanaway, 
WA  98387) (“the Customer”) 
 
WHEREAS: 

A. Darkhorse is a provider of Implementation Services, Subscription Services, and Advisory Services related to 
a predictive modeling solution for emergency services providers, as defined herein; 

B. The Customer is an emergency service provider that wishes to acquire Implementation Services, 
Subscription Services, and Advisory Services in accordance with this Agreement; and 

C. Darkhorse and the Customer are forming this Agreement to establish the terms and conditions upon which 
the Darkhorse will provide the Implementation Services, Subscription Services, and Advisory Services to the 
Customer. 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
the Parties agree as follows: 

1.0 DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Definitions. The following terms as used in this Agreement, including the recitals, shall have the meanings 
indicated below, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires:   

(a) “Business Day” means a day Monday through Friday that the chartered banks are open for 
business in the Province of Alberta. 

(b) “Business Hours” 9 a.m. to 5p.m. MST during Business Days. 

(c) “Confidential Information” means any information about a party, including but not limited to 
information about its business, products, services, suppliers, customers,  or pricing that is provided 
or otherwise obtained pursuant to this Agreement, except that Confidential Information does not 
include information that: (i) was in the prior possession of the receiving party; (ii) was received by 
the receiving party from a third party without obligations of confidentiality; (iii) is in the public 
domain; or (iv) is developed independently by a party without use of or reference to the 
information of the other party.  

102



 

2 

(d) “Customer Data” means information provided by Customer to assist in the development of 
Deliverables or input in accessing and using the Subscription Services, including but not limited to 
information requested by Darkhorse related to call data, spatial data, operational data and 
municipal development plans. 

(e) “Customer Environment” means electricity, internet connectivity, compatible mobile 
communications devices, and compatible computer hardware, software, and operating systems, 
as further described in Schedule “B”. 

(f) “Darkhorse Reports” means any reports or other output generated from the Customer accessing 
and using the Subscription Services. 

(g) “Deliverable” means a deliverable to be provided as set out in a SOW. 

(h) “Derivative Work” means a work that is based upon one or more pre-existing works, such as a 
revision, modification, translation (including compilation or recapitulation by computer), 
abridgement, condensation, expansion, or any other form in which such a pre-existing work may 
be recast, transformed, or adapted, and that, if prepared without authorization by the owner of 
the pre-existing work, would constitute a copyright infringement. 

(i) “Documentation” means all documentation with respect to the Subscription Services found at 
https://darkhorseemergency.com/ 

(j) “Event of Force Majeure” has the meaning set out in Section 12.3. 

(k) “Implementation Services” means the services to be provided by Darkhorse related to the 
customization and implementation of Darkhorse’s Software and Subscription Services, including 
the provision of any Deliverables under a SOW. Implementation Services shall not include any data 
conversion or migration unless expressly provided in a SOW. 

(l) “Initial Term” has the meaning set out in Section 7. 

(m) “Intellectual Property Rights” means: (i) rights associated with works of authorship throughout 
the world, including but not limited to copyrights, neighbouring rights, moral rights, and mask 
works, and all Derivative Works thereof; (ii) trade design and industrial design rights; (iii) integrated  
circuit topography rights; (iv) trade-mark and trade name rights and similar rights; (v) trade secret 
rights and rights in confidential information; (vi) patents, designs, algorithms and other industrial 
property rights, (vii) all other intellectual and industrial property rights (of every kind and nature 
throughout the world and however designated) whether arising by operation of law, contract, 
license, or otherwise; and (viii) all registrations, initial applications, renewals, extensions, 
continuations, divisions or reissues thereof now or hereafter in force (including any rights in any 
of the foregoing). 

(n) “Issue” means any failure of the Subscription Services to substantially comply with the 
Documentation when operated in accordance with this Agreement and the Documentation, with 
the applicable tier and priority level for resolution of such Issue as set out in Schedule “C”.   

(o) “Qualified Personnel” mean Customer employees who have successfully completed Darkhorse’s 
training program for the Software and Subscription Services. 

(p) “Renewal Term” has the meaning set out in Section 7. 

(q) “Service Level Agreement” means Schedule “C”. 

103

https://darkhorseemergency.com/


 

3 

(r) “Services” means Implementation Services and Subscription Services. 

(s) “Software” means the software application provided by Darkhorse to be installed on a computer 
or mobile communications device that will permit access to Subscription Services. 

(t) “SOW” means a statement of work agreed to in writing by the parties setting out the 
Implementation Services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement, and attached as Schedule 
“A” to this Agreement. 

(u) “Subscription Services” means the services listed in Schedule B and any Deliverables to be 
provided under a SOW, which may be accessed by Qualified Personnel on a computer or mobile 
communications device. 

(v) “Term” means the Initial Term, and any Renewal Terms, if applicable.  

 

2.0 LICENSE 

2.1 License to Customer. Darkhorse hereby grants to the Customer a personal, nontransferable, royalty-free, 
fully paid up license (without rights of sublicense) during the Term to install and use the Software solely on devices 
owned or controlled by the Customer or its Qualified Personnel, and solely for the purpose of accessing and using 
the Subscription Services. The license allows the Customer an unlimited number of EPS users access to the platform. 
Darkhorse hereby grants to the Customer a personal, nontransferable, royalty-free, fully paid up license (without 
rights of sublicense) during the Term to reproduce and use any Darkhorse Reports.   

2.2 Licenses to Darkhorse.  Customer hereby grants to the Darkhorse a personal, nontransferable, royalty-free, 
fully paid up license (with rights to sublicense to its contractors and suppliers) during the Term to use, reproduce 
and create Derivative Works of Customer Data solely to provide Services and Darkhorse Reports to Customer in 
accordance with this Agreement. No derivative works will be shared outside of the Customer’s organization without 
written consent from the Customer.  

2.3 Restrictions. Customer is not licensed or permitted under this Agreement to do any of the following and 
shall not allow any Qualified Personnel or others for whom Customer is responsible to do any of the following: (i) 
access or attempt to access any other Darkhorse systems, programs or data that are not made available for public 
use; (ii) rent, sell, lease, lend, redistribute or sublicense the Software or Darkhorse Reports or permit any third party 
to benefit from the use or functionality of the Software, Services or Darkhorse Reports via a rental, lease, 
timesharing, service bureau, or other arrangement without the express permission of Darkhorse Analytics Inc.; (iii) 
use the Software on any compatible device that Customer or Qualified Personnel do not own or control; (iv) copy, 
modify, or create Derivative Works of the Software, Services or Darkhorse Reports;  (v) work around any technical 
limitations in the Software, Services or Darkhorse Reports, or use any tool to enable features or functionalities that 
are otherwise disabled in the Software, or decompile, disassemble, or otherwise reverse engineer the Software 
except as otherwise permitted by applicable law or by licenses with respect to open source software included with 
the Software; (vi) perform or attempt to perform any actions that would interfere with the proper working of the 
Software or Services, prevent access to or the use of the Software or Services by Darkhorse or other licensees or 
customers, or impose an unreasonable or disproportionately large load on Darkhorse’s infrastructure; or (vii) 
otherwise use the Software, services or Darkhorse Reports except as expressly allowed under this Agreement.  

3.0 IMPLEMENTATION SERVICES 

104



 

4 

3.1 Implementation Services. Subject to Customer fulfilling its obligations under the Agreement and the 
applicable SOW or SOWs, Darkhorse shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the Implementation 
Services in accordance with the applicable SOW or SOWs. 

3.2 Acceptance.  Any provision of Deliverables shall be subject to any acceptance procedures and criteria that 
may be set out in the applicable SOW. 

3.3 Project Manager. Each party shall appoint the representative indicated in the applicable SOW to act as a 
Project Manager, which may be changed from time to time by providing written notice, who shall act as a single 
point of contact and be responsible for giving all instructions and notices permitted or required under this 
Agreement with respect to Implementation Services. 

3.4 Training. Darkhorse shall provide training in the use of the Software and Subscription Services as set out in 
Schedule “A”, or as otherwise agreed in writing by the parties. 

4.0 SUBSCRIPTION SERVICES 

4.1 Subscription Services.  Subject to Customer’s compliance with Section 4.2, Darkhorse will use commercially 
reasonable efforts to provide Customer’s Qualified Personnel with access to the Subscription Services in accordance 
with the Service Level Agreement. Except for the Customer Environment, Darkhorse shall be responsible for 
providing sufficient infrastructure, equipment, technical support labour to provide the Subscription Services. 

4.2 Customer Obligations.  During the Term, Customer shall be responsible for maintaining the Customer 
Environment at Customer’s sole expense. To add clarity, this includes the access interface to the Darkhorse platform, 
all EPS databases and the data APIs that interface with the Darkhorse platform.  

5.0 PAYMENTS 

5.1 Implementation Services.  Customer shall pay for Implementation and Advisory Services and training in 
accordance with the Schedules “A”, “B” and “D”. 

5.2 Subscription Services.  Customer shall pay for Subscription Services in advance on an annual basis as set 
out in Schedule “D”.  

5.3 Taxes.   Pricing for Services is exclusive of GST, PST or HST, or other similar use or sales taxes, which shall 
be payable by Customer as applicable. 

5.4 Interest.   Interest will be payable on any overdue amounts under this Agreement at the lesser of 12 percent 
(12%) per annum or the highest amount permitted by law. 

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

6.1 Capacity. Each party represents and warrants to the other that it has the full power and authority to enter 
into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations under this Agreement. 

6.2 Residency. Darkhorse represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date it is not a non-resident for the 
purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada). 

6.3 Implementation Services.  Darkhorse represents and warrants that it will provide Implementation Services 
in accordance with general industry standards.  Customer’s sole remedy and Darkhorse’s sole obligation for a breach 
of this representation and warranty is to use commercially reasonable efforts to re-perform such Implementation 
Services in accordance with the representation and warranty. 

105



 

5 

6.4 Subscription Services.  Darkhorse warrants that the Subscription Services will substantially comply with the 
Documentation when operated or used in accordance with this Agreement and the Documentation.  Where an Issue 
arises with Subscription Services when operated or used in accordance with this Agreement, the Customer’s sole 
remedy and Darkhorse’s sole obligation is to provide support to resolve such Issue in accordance with the Service 
Level Agreement. 

6.5 Customer Data.  Customer represents and warrants that all Customer Data shall be complete, accurate and 
free of errors and omissions, and that Customer has all rights necessary to grant the licenses to the Customer Data 
set out in this Agreement. 

6.6  Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE SOFTWARE, SERVICES AND 

DARKHORSE REPORTS ARE PROVIDED “AS-IS”, AND DARKHORSE DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES AND 

REPRESENTATIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE OF 

MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT.  DARKHORSE SHALL 
HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE SOFTWARE, SERVICES, OR DARKHORSE REPORTS FOR 
ANY ERROR, INACCURACY OR OMISSION IN THE SOFTWARE, SERVICES OR DARKHORSE REPORTS CAUSED BY ANY 
INCOMPLETENESS OR INACCURACY OF CUSTOMER DATA, OR ANY UNAVAILABILITY, INTERRUPTION OR 
DEGREDATION OF INTERNET SERVICE. 

7.0 TERM AND TERMINATION 

7.1 Term.   This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and run for an initial term of two years 
(“Initial Term”) and shall automatically renew for successive terms of two years (each a “Renewal Term”), unless 
either party provides at least thirty (30) days’ notice prior to the end of the Initial term of Renewal Term, as 
applicable. 

7.2 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by a party upon written notice where it has previously 
provided written notice of a material breach or default of any of the provisions of this Agreement by the other party, 
and such breach or default remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) days after the receipt of written notice 
describing such breach, except that with respect to a breach of Section, parties shall have only the remedies set out 
therein. 

7.3 Effect of Termination.  Immediately after the effective date of expiration or termination of this Agreement, 
Customer shall discontinue all use of the Software and Services.  Within ten (10) days of expiration or termination 
of this Agreement, each party shall return to the other party all Confidential Information of the other party (including 
in the case of Darkhorse, the return of the Customer Data), except that the obligation to return information shall not 
include that which must be retained for legal or archival purposes, or which is retained on a party’s network.  
Customer shall pay all amounts due or accruing due as of the effective date of expiration or termination of this 
Agreement.  

8.0 CONFIDENTIALITY 

8.1 Confidential Information.  Each party agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information 
of the other party and shall not disclose the Confidential Information of the other party without its prior written 
consent or as required by law.  Each party agrees not to use the Confidential Information of the other party except 
to fulfill obligations or exercise rights under this Agreement, or to enforce this Agreement.   A party shall be entitled 
to disclose the Confidential Information of the other party where required by applicable law, or the order of a court 
or government agency without authority to do so, except that where permitted by applicable law, the party obligated 
to disclose such Confidential Information shall provide prior written notice of such disclosure to the party whose 
Confidential Information is being disclosed. 

9.0 OWNERSHIP 

106



 

6 

9.1 Software and Services.  Except for the limited licenses granted in this Agreement, Darkhorse shall own all 
right, title and interest in and to the Software and the Services, including but not limited to all Intellectual Property 
Rights therein or thereto. To the extent Customer acquires any right, title and interest in and to the Software and 
the Services, including but not limited to all Intellectual Property Rights therein or thereto, except as provided above, 
Customer hereby assigns and agrees to assign the same to Darkhorse. 

9.2 Customer Data.  Except for the limited licenses granted in this Agreement, Customer shall own all right, 
title and interest in and to the Customer Data, including but not limited to all Intellectual Property Rights therein or 
thereto. To the extent Darkhorse acquires any right, title and interest in and to the Customer Data, including but not 
limited to all Intellectual Property Rights therein or thereto, except as provided above, Darkhorse hereby assigns and 
agrees to assign the same to Customer. 

9.3 Inventions and Improvements. Any and all inventions and improvements which the Customer may 
conceive, suggest or make while receiving access to the Software or the Services, shall be the sole and exclusive 
property of Darkhorse. Customer hereby assigns and agrees to assign to Darkhorse all right, title and interest in and 
to the inventions and improvements, including but not limited all Intellectual Property Rights therein or thereto.  

9.4 Further Assurances. The Customer shall, whenever requested by Darkhorse, execute any and all 
applications, assignments and other instruments which Darkhorse shall deem necessary in order to apply for and 
obtain letters of patent or copyrights of Canada or foreign countries for the Software, Services, inventions or 
improvements, and in order to assign and convey to Darkhorse the sole and exclusive right, title and interest in and 
to the Software, Services, inventions or improvements, including but not limited to all Intellectual Property Rights 
therein or thereto.  

10.0 INDEMNITY  

10.1 Indemnification.  Subject to Section 10.2, Darkhorse shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Customer 
from any and all claims, actions, suits, damages and expenses alleging that the Software or Services, as provided by 
Darkhorse, infringe or misappropriate the Intellectual Property Rights of a third party. 

10.2 Notice and Cooperation.  Darkhorse’s obligations of indemnity are subject to: (i) Customer promptly 
notifying Darkhorse in writing for any claim of for indemnification pursuant to Section 10.1 (provided that 
Customer’s failure to provide such notice shall relieve Darkhorse of its indemnification obligations only to the 
extent that such failure prejudices the Darkhorse’s ability to defend the claim); (ii) providing Dark Horse will sole o 
control of the claim, its defense and all negotiations for its settlement or compromise; and (iii) providing 
information and assistance reasonably necessary to permit the Darkhorse to defend the claim.    

10.3 Exceptions. Darkhorse shall not be liable under Section 10.1 to the extent any claims results from 
Customer Data, modifications to the Software or Services other than by or for Darkhorse or use of the Software or 
Services in a manner not authorized by the Agreement.  

 

11.0 LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY 

11.1 EXCEPT FOR OBLIGATIONS UNDER SECTION 10, OR A BREACH OF SECTIONS 2, 6.5 OR 8-10 OR AMOUNTS 
PAYABLE UNDER THE AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR: (i)  ANY FORM OF INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, 
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, LOST PROFITS OR OTHER ECONOMIC LOSSES, FROM ALL 
CAUSES OF ACTION OF ANY KIND, INCLUDING TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), CONTRACT AND BREACH OF 
WARRANTY, EVEN IF THE OTHER PARTY HAS BEEN INFORMED IN ADVANCE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES; 
OR (ii) DAMAGES IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS PAID OR PAYABLE BY CUSTOMER TO DARKHOUSE IN THE THREE (3) 
MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO THE DATE SUCH DAMAGES AROSE.    
  

107



 

7 

12.0 GENERAL 

12.1 Notices. Notices and other communications sent by a party must be in writing and shall be deemed properly 
given if they are sent by email or prepaid courier to the other party at the respective physical address or email 
address set forth below:   

Darkhorse Analytics Inc.  
10507 Saskatchewan Drive NW 
Edmonton, AB T6E 4S1 
Canada 
 
Attention:  Craig Hiltz, Vice President 
Email: craig.hiltz@darkhorseanalytics.com  

Central Pierce Fire & Rescue 
PO Box 940 
Spanaway, 
WA, 98387 
 
Attention: Dustin Morrow, Chief 
Email: DMorrow@Centralpiercefire.org 
 

or at such other addresses or email addresses as the party may advise in writing. Such notices and other 
communications shall be deemed to be received at the opening of business in the office of the addressee on the 
Business Day following transmission in the case of emails and delivery in the case of prepaid courier.    

12.2 Independent Contractors. The parties acknowledge that they are independent contractors and no other 
relationship, including partnership, joint venture, employment, franchise, master/servant or principal/agent is 
intended by this Agreement.   Neither party shall have the right to bind or obligate the other. 

12.3 Force Majeure. Non-performance of this Agreement (other than any failure to meet to make payments 
required under this Agreement) by a party shall be excused to the extent that performance by such party is rendered 
impractical or impossible by civil disobedience, strike, earthquake, fire, flood, governmental acts, governmental 
orders or governmental restrictions, shortages of supplies, or any other reason where failure to perform is beyond 
the reasonable control of, and not caused by negligence of, the non-performing party (“Event of Force Majeure”); 
provided further that the non-performing party provides prompt notice of the Event of Force Majeure and its 
expected duration, and uses reasonable efforts to resolve such Event of Force Majeure. 

12.4 Equitable Relief.  Each party acknowledges that any breach of its obligations under this Agreement with 
respect to the proprietary rights or Confidential Information of the other party shall cause irreparable injury for 
which there are inadequate remedies at law, and therefore the other party shall be entitled to seek in any court of 
competent jurisdiction injunctive, preliminary or other equitable relief in addition to damages, including court costs 
and reasonable legal and other professional fees, to remedy any actual or threatened violations of its rights with 
respect to such matters. 

12.5 Amendment and Waiver. No modification or amendment to this Agreement shall be effective unless in 
writing and signed by both parties. Failure by either party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be 
deemed a waiver of future enforcement of that or any other provision.  Any waiver shall be effective only if in writing 
and signed by the party waiving rights. 

12.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the attached Schedules incorporated herein, contains all the 
terms and conditions and constitutes the entire agreement in force and effect between the parties with respect to 
the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all previous proposals, both oral and written, 
negotiations, representations, commitments, writings and all other communications between the parties. 

12.7 Survival. Sections 1, 5, 6, 7.3 and 8-12 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

12.8 Assignment. Customer may not assign this Agreement without the express written consent of Darkhorse, 
which may be withheld in its sole discretion. Darkhorse may assign this Agreement by providing written notice to 

108

mailto:craig.hiltz@darkhorseanalytics.com


 

8 

the Customer. This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
heirs, executors, legal personal representatives, successors and assigns. 

12.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of 
this Agreement. 

12.10 Legal Fees. In the event any litigation is brought by either party in connection with this Agreement, the 
substantially prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to recover from the other party all the costs, 
reasonable legal and other professional fees reasonably incurred by such party in the litigation, and need not bring 
a suit to final judgment to substantially prevail. 

12.11 Headings. The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections and the insertion of headings are for 
convenient reference only and are not to affect its interpretation. 

12.12 Choice of Law and Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the Province of Alberta, other than with respect to conflict of laws. The parties irrevocably submit and attorn 
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Province of Alberta, in respect of matters arising in connection with Agreement. 

12.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts and transmitted by facsimile 
or electronically as a PDF (Portable Document Format) document, each of which when so executed and delivered 
shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as of the 
Effective Date. 

Darkhorse Analytics Inc. 

 

Per: ____________________________ 

Name and Title: Craig Hiltz, Vice President 

Central Pierce Fire & Rescue 

 

Per: _______________________________ 

Name and Title: Dustin Morrow, Chief 

109



 

9 

SCHEDULE “A” 

DEVELOPMENT, IMPLEMENTATION AND ADVISORY SERVICES 

Services Provided 

1. Implementation Services  

a. Clear identification of required data and collaboration with CPFR data manager to understand service-

specific business rules and particulars.  

b. Initial processing and validation of CPFR data using the Darkhorse Wrangler.  

c. Iterative Diagnostic and Deployment tool demos to clarify assumptions, generate discussion, and 

familiarize the CPFR team with the software. 

d. Forecasting future incident demand and road networks based on municipalities' population and 

development projections. 

e. Customization of the Deployment software to CPFR’s specific language to facilitate adoption and ease of 

use. 

f. Access to our library of clear data visualizations that are easily exportable as SVG, PNG, or CSV (data table) 

files. 

g. Set up automated application updates from CPFR data uploads to the Darkhorse SFTP server. 

h. Access to a vetted, cleaned, and value-added database. We are open to exposing our Wrangler process 

and database with existing CPFR software assets such as Interra.  This will ensure that CPFR is always 

reporting a “single version of the truth”. 

 

2. Co-creation Services 

a. Historical review facilitated by our Diagnostics software. This review includes call volume, drivetime, 

overgoal responses, and performance to CPFR service standards.  

b. Diagnostic analysis facilitated by our Diagnostics software. This includes identifying the root causes of 

overgoal responses. The analysis is done on both a first response level and on a contingent standard for 

incidents where an Effective Response Force (ERF) is required.  

c. In collaboration with CPFR, selection of several predefined station configuration scenarios (Example: 

move stations 73, confirm locations of 66 & 61, repurpose station 62 and add 2 more stations). 

d. Identification of mathematically optimal station locations using specialized optimization software for the 

predefined scenarios and constraints.  

e. Final findings and recommendations presented to CPFR management outlining the results of the review 

and bringing focus to station location and apparatus deployment issues.  

f. Provide platform access to Stuart at Dynamix and provide guidance of how the resource optimizations 

can support the SOC.  

 

The Implementation and Co-creation phases will take between 8 and 10 weeks from the date full data is 

provided to Darkhorse. 

 

3. Subscription:  

The term of the subscription is five years and will include the following platform components. 

110



 

10 

a. Darkhorse Wrangler service for continuous cleaning and validation of raw uploaded service data 

b. Darkhorse HQ (unlimited CPFR user licenses) 

c. Darkhorse Diagnostic software (unlimited CPFR user licenses) 

d. Darkhorse Deployment software (unlimited CPFR user licenses) 

 

4. Advisory Services 

Access to Darkhorse advisor(s) throughout the subscription period.  

 

An advisor engagement is required with a subscription to the Darkhorse platform. CPFR can select the option 

of advisory service that best meets their needs. To accommodate the reality CPFR’s needs may change from 

year to year of the subscription, Darkhorse will allow CPFR to choose the best option at the beginning of each 

contract year.  

 

Option 1: Outsourced Analytics Advisory Group: Darkhorse team will be available three days per 

quarter to contribute to assessment, interpretation and goal setting with a key CPFR working group. 

The team composition will depend on the requirements but will always include a key advisor and the 

analytical and technical support network to add value to the discussion. 

 

Option 2: Monthly Analytics Review + Annual Pre-Budget Deep-dive: A Darkhorse advisor will spend a 

half-day zoom call with CPFR leaders to review the progress on existing targets and identify any new 

analysis that is required. A week-long engagement is reserved prior to budgeting to ensure CPFR is 

supported with the analysis and visuals required.   

 

Option 3: Advisor Retainer This is the most flexible approach if CPFR is uncertain of their needs, but 

Darkhorse’s responsiveness will depend on the availability of the required advisor type. CPFR pre-pays 

for a block of 40 hours and can re-purchase equal or larger block as required. Purchased hours do not 

expire for the term of the contract.  

 

111



 

11 

SCHEDULE “B” 

LIST OF SUBSCRIPTION SERVICES AND CUSTOMER ENVIRONMENT 

 

Subscription Services 

Subject to the Customer’s provision of the Customer Environment, Subscription Services consist of the provision of 
access to and use of the functionality of the following items in accordance with the Agreement, including but not 
limited to the Service Level Agreement: 

APPLICATION USE PLATFORM DATA UPDATE 
FREQUENCY 

Darkhorse Wrangler 
Service 

Data cleanliness and consistency 
for Darkhorse applications. 
 
Enables efficient analysis to answer 
ad-hoc analytics requests.  

Darkhorse 
computational 
notebooks and 
standardized 
database 

Auto updates based on 
client frequency 
requirements 

Darkhorse HQ Quick access to your most 
important KPIs 

Web-based Auto updates based on 
client frequency 
requirements 

Darkhorse 
Diagnostics Module  

Historical data exploratory 
application. 

Web-based Auto updates based on 
client frequency 
requirements 

Darkhorse 
Deployment 
Module 

Predictive modelling application – 
Station locations, resource 
deployment scenarios, boundary 
optimization. 

Web-based Annual spatial update. 
Annual demand set to 
review and updates. 

 

  

112



 

12 

SCHEDULE “C” 

SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

ISSUE TIER AND 
PRIORITY 

PRIORITY DEFINITION SERVICE LEVEL 

Tier 1 
 
   Any Priority  

Tier 1 issues are those Issues that 
involve any loss of productive use 
caused by non-code factors, such as the 
need or loss of credentials for logging 
in, inaccessibility to Wi-Fi for data 
downloads, device-specific support  

Support for Tier 1 Issues will be provided 
by a trained power user within the 
Customer organization.  Issues that cannot 
be handled by Tier 1 support will be 
escalated to Darkhorse Tier 2 personnel. 

Tier 2 Tier 2 issues are those Issues not 
covered or resolvable via Tier 1 support, 
and these include application bugs.  Tier 
2 support requests will originate from 
the designated client Tier 1 
representative. 

 

   Priority 1: Urgent Priority 1 Issues are those defined by 
complete loss of productive use.  
Functionality is prohibited with no 
client-side workaround available. 

Acknowledgement Time: Maximum of 4 
hours within Business Hours from the 
inquiry being made by the Customer. 
 
Resolution   Time is within   8   hours   of 
Acknowledgement Time 
 

   Priority 2: Normal Priority 2 are those Issues is when 
productive use is not impacted.  
Functionality is available but model 
outputs are not as expected or has the 
app has minor or cosmetic defects.   
 
Workarounds or configurable options 
are generally available. 

Acknowledgement Time: Maximum of 8 
hours within Business Hours from the 
inquiry being made by the Customer. 
 
Resolution Time will be determined on a 
case-by-case basis after understanding 
client urgency. Typically, a response is 
achieved within 1-3 days. 
 

  

113



 

13 

SCHEDULE “D” 

PRICING 

 

  

114



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date: May 9, 2022 

Item Title:  For Committee and Against Committee Selection 

Attachments:  None 

Submitted by: Chief Morrow 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     
 
As required, and directed by the Board, Staff has notified community members that may want to 
participate on the for committee or against committee for both the EMS Levy renewal and the 
Fire Benefit Charge renewal. Both Measures are on the August 2022 Ballot. This notification 
has occurred via the District’s website, social media channels and the Board Meeting Minutes 
from April 25, 2022. 
 
If there are interested community members ahead of the May 9th Board Meeting, Staff will have 
a list of individuals available for the Board to assign to each committee. Once assigned, Staff 
will transmit the names to the County as required. 
 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  None 
 

115



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date    May 9, 2022 

Item Title:    Human Resources Division Report 

Attachments:     

Submitted by:   Suzi Washo 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     

 
Recruitment 

 New Hires 
o Mechanic – 4.4.2022 

 Keith Nylander has joined the Shop as the newest Mechanic, completing the 
replacement of the most recently retired mechanic.  

o Crisis Intervention Coordinator – 4.18.2022 
 We welcome John Beauchamp as our first Crisis Intervention Coordinator, who will 

be taking over all of the responsibilities, plus more, from retiring Chaplain Luebke. 
o Support Specialist – Information Technology Consortium – 4.18.2022 

 Monica Lesser has joined the IT Consortium as their first Support Specialist. 
o Part-time Runner – 4.18.2022 

 Mike Ampe, retired firefighter, has come back to assist Central Stores as a part-
time runner. 

 

 Current Recruitments 
o Facilities Maintenance Technician 

 We are in the final recruitment steps (physical exam) to fill the Facilities 
Maintenance Technician  

 
o Facilities Lead 

 We are in the recruitment process to fill this new position in Logistics 

 Oral Boards will be held on May 9th  
 

o Captain - Logistics 
 We are in the recruitment process to fill this vacant position in Logistics 

 Oral Boards will be held on May 12th  

 Chief’s Interviews will be held on May 19th  
  

116



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 

 
o Executive Assistant 

 We are accepting applications to fill the Executive Assistant position that will be 
vacant the end of June with the upcoming retirement of Dianne Porter.  

 Oral Boards will be held on May 18th  

 Chief’s Interviews will be held on May 20th  
 

o Operations Analyst 
 We are currently accepting internal applications (through May 12th) to fill the 

vacant position that was recently reclassified from Fire Service Data Analyst to 
Operations Analyst.   

 Oral Boards will be held on June 1st  

 Chief’s Interviews will be held on June 8th   
o Should there be less than 3 qualified internal applicants, we will 

then move the recruitment to external candidates 
 

o Academy 22-2 
 The start date is September 6th   
 13 Candidates are completing the final step (physical/drug screenings) 
 For the second round of hiring to “fill out” this academy, we are on track. 

 There are 17 candidates currently in the background and suitability 
assessment stages 

o Chief’s Interviews – early June 
o Psychological and Physical Assessments – June/early July 

 

 Upcoming Recruitments/Other Staffing work 
o Purchasing Analyst 

 New position in 2022 budget 
o Academy 23-1 

 
 

Negotiations 

 Negotiations have been concluded with the Firefighters group, we are currently working on the 
plan for implementing all of the changes  

 The Chief’s contract is before you tonight for your approval.  If approved, we will then work with 
the Local on implementing the changes for that group as well.   

 Local 726 Non-Uniformed – this contract expired on December 31, 2021.  We have our first 
bargaining session set for June 14th.   

 The OPEIU contract will expire on December 31st.  We received a re-opener from OPEIU and 
have sent them a myriad of dates for bargaining sessions from July – October.   
 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
N/A 

117



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date: 05-09-2022 

Item Title: Division Update - Training 

Attachments: N/A 

Submitted by: AC Juarez 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:   

 

 

 

 

   
 

SUMMARY:     

 

1. Recruit Class 22-1 is just beginning advanced hose and will be heading to North Bend in 

roughly a week for class A fire control and live fire MCO’s.  The recruits are performing 

well and the Training Staff has done amazing work being nimble during this 

unprecedented academy. 

 

2. Training with Graham and Orting continues, nothing but good comments have come 

from this. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

 

N/A 

118



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:   05/09/2022 

Item Title:  Division Update – Field Operations 

Attachments:  N/A 

Submitted by:   R. Kent 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     

 
1.   Spring Fair successfully planned and executed.  Great presence by CPFR by E70, M70, 2 Personnel in 

First Aid, 3 Personnel for Pub Ed and Courtney Thompson, our Public Educator interacting with the 
Fair-goers  

 
2. East Pierce County Lahar Drill successfully completed  
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
N/A 

119



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:    05/09/2022 

Item Title: Division Update - EMS 

Attachments: N/A 

Submitted by:   AC Bouchard 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:   
 
1) Ongoing medication shortages (nationwide) including albuterol, epinephrine, and normal saline.  

Directions put forth on how to deal with shortages and possible budgetary concerns. 
 

2) EMS Excellence Coin: Lt Howell has been integral in establishing a program to recognize and 
celebrate EMS Excellence. 
 

3) Welcome Temporary EMS Lt Kim Stoltenberg to the EMS Division.   
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
N/A 
 

120



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:   May 9, 2022 

Item Title:  Operations Section Update 

Attachments:  N/A 

Submitted by:   E. Stueve 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     

 
1. As of this reading, we will have two groups of officers and various staff through the first 

phase of Nash; the coursework has been well-received.  We have the District-wide 

training and the ongoing work of institutionalizing the commitments to follow. 

 

2. Chief Karns and I met with Pierce County Sheriff Department leadership to discuss 

opportunities for collaboration. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:         

 

N/A 

121



 
            Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

Agenda Date:  April 25, 2022 

Item Title:  Fire Chief’s Report   

Attachments:  None 

Submitted by: Chief Morrow   
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION BY THE BOARD:  

 

 

 

 

 
 
SUMMARY:     
  
South Sound 911 / Radio System  
 
Staff continues to collaborate with our partners at South Sound 911 on the direction the 
radio system will take into the future. In the past two weeks, District Staff, along with 
Staff from PPD, West Pierce Fire, and Lakewood PD, met with the South Sound Board 
Chair, Co-Chair, and Director to share our views on how the current radio environment 
impacts our business. All parties agreed to continue with the discussion. 
 
Local 726 Firefighter Contract Implementation 
 
Staff is working with Local 726 Leadership to fully execute and implement the changes 
that were bargained in this last contract negotiations. The process is going smoothly 
with most major changes taking effect January 1, 2023. 
 
Community Outreach 
 
Staff has been engaged in additional community outreach with more planned. The 
District will be present twice monthly at the Puyallup Farmers Market and a Station 72 
dedication/open house is being planned. 
 
August 2022 Ballot Measures 
 
Staff is heavily engaged with Lund Faucett on the renewal efforts of our EMS Levy and 
Fire Benefit Charge. I have been engaged by community groups for presentations and 
they have gone well. 
 

122



123

port08190
Typewritten Text

port08190
Typewritten Text

port08190
Typewritten Text

port08190
Typewritten Text
Also sent to:Jim GirtJeremy ManganMariah DormaierJusten FariasMikhail VlasenkoMike CableZach MoorRod Martinson



124



Mission:  Effect ively respond, cont inuously improve,  compassionately serve  

 

 

 

 
 

April 24, 2022 

 

Dear Courtney, 

This letter aims to formally commend you for the development and deployment of a new public presence 

at the Spring Fair.  As you know, we have recently emerged from under a cloud of COVID.  Much like most 

of our societal norms, many of our historical programs suffered and diminished over the past couple of 

years, including the enthusiasm and motivation of our community and department, which have become 

casualties of this pandemic. 

In response to this situation and your new charge, you took control of the public education plans for the 

Spring Fair and jumped into action.  Your training, experience, and personal exuberance permeated our 

presence at the Fair.  Beginning with your engagement of each of our employees, you shared your 

excitement and energy with these awestruck firefighters.  Your impact was palpable through your 

interactive exhibits that engaged children of all ages and the sweet support you provided the parents 

accompanying our younger visitors.  The benefit of your actions cannot be overstated.  Central Pierce, its 

employees, and citizens are incredibly fortunate to have you as one of its newest members. 

On behalf of a grateful department, I extend our appreciation for your efforts to engage our citizens and 

share what is best about our department and industry. 

I encourage you to continue the fantastic work that you do.  Your contagious enthusiasm is a critical 

ingredient needed in our community and department. 

 

Sincerely,  

 
Adam Rosenlund 

Battalion Chief 

 

Cc: Personnel File 

Commissioner Packet 

AC Kevin Berdan 

 

 

Central Pierce Fire & Rescue 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 940, Spanaway, WA  98387 

17520 – 22nd Ave E, Tacoma, WA  98445 
(253) 538-6400   (253) 276-6770  Fax 

www.centralpiercefire.org 

 

125

http://www.centralpiercefire.org/

	1 - 2022-05-09 Board Agenda DRAFT
	4A1 - AIS - SS911
	4A2 - SS911l 2022-05-09 presentation
	6B - 2022-04-25 Board Meeting Minutes DRAFT
	6C - 2022_05_09 Warrant Approval
	9A1 - 5.9.2022  726 Chiefs 2022-2024 Contract and 2022 AppA
	9A2 - Chief's Contract 2022-2024  redlined
	9A3 - 2022 Local 726  Chiefs Salary Schedule
	9B1 - 5.9.2022   2022 Fire Chief-Deputy Chief Appendix A
	9B2 - 2022 Fire Chief, Deputy Chief Salary Schedule
	9C1 - AIS 2022 Appendix A  Revision OPEIU
	9C2 - 2022 OPEIU Salary Schedule 4-1-2022 Addendum
	9D1 - Darkhorse AIS
	9D2 - Dark Horse Contract
	9E - Pro-Con AIS 5.9.22
	10B - 05.09.2022   HR Report
	10C - Training AIS  05-09-2022
	10D - Operations AIS 5-09-2022
	10E - EMS 5.9.22 AIS
	10F - OPSEC AIS 05.09.22
	10G - FC Report AIS 5.9.22
	11A - Ltr 2022-04-21 PCSO LODD_Redacted
	11B - Courtney Thompson commendation 04-24-2022



